
Investing in care. 
Delivering returns.
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  2025 Financial highlights

We are 
Target 
Healthcare
We prioritise responsible investment 
with a clear purpose – improving the 
UK’s care home real estate.

1	 Based on EPRA NTA movement and dividends paid, see alternative 
performance measures on page 104.

2	 Weighted average cost of drawn debt, inclusive of amortisation of 
arrangement costs.

3	 See Glossary of terms and definitions on page 109.
4	 Based on adjusted EPRA earnings, see note 8 to the consolidated financial 

statements and alternative performance measures on page 104.
5	 See EPRA performance measures on page 106.

EPRA NTA per share (pence)

114.8  +3.7%

Total accounting return1

9.3%
IFRS profit (£ million)

60.8

Net loan-to-value3

21.8%
Dividend per share (pence)

5.884+3.0% 
Dividend cover4

103%
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Year ended 30 June 2025 Year ended 30 June 2024

Notes
Revenue

£’000
Capital

£’000
Total

£’000
Revenue

£’000
Capital
£’000

Total
£’000

Revenue
Rental income 60,369 10,841 71,210 58,615 10,927 69,542
Other rental income 202 1,505 1,707 – – –
Other income 11 – 11 9 – 9

Total revenue 60,582 12,346 72,928 58,624 10,927 69,551

Gains on revaluation of 
 investment properties 9 – 12,244 12,244 – 24,693 24,693

Gains on investment properties realised 9 – 39 39 – 1,934 1,934

Total income 60,582 24,629 85,211 58,624 37,554 96,178

Expenditure
Investment management fee 2 (7,816) – (7,816) (7,518) – (7,518)
Credit loss allowance and bad debts 3 (1,612) – (1,612) (962) – (962)
Other expenses 3 (3,907) – (3,907) (3,074) – (3,074)

Total expenditure (13,335) – (13,335) (11,554) – (11,554)

Profit before finance costs  
and taxation 47,247 24,629 71,876 47,070 37,554 84,624

Net finance costs
Interest income 4 426 – 426 66 – 66
Finance costs 5 (10,659) (798) (11,457) (10,866) (800) (11,666)

Net finance costs (10,233) (798) (11,031) (10,800) (800) (11,600)

Profit before taxation 37,014 23,831 60,845 36,270 36,754 73,024
Taxation 6 – – – – – –

Profit for the year 37,014 23,831 60,845 36,270 36,754 73,024
Other comprehensive income: 
Items that are or may be reclassified 

subsequently to profit or loss
Movement in fair value of interest  

rate derivatives designated as  
cash flow hedges 13 – (1,450) (1,450) – (3,285) (3,285)

Total comprehensive income  
for the year 37,014 22,381 59,395 36,270 33,469 69,739

Earnings per share (pence) 8 5.97 3.84 9.81 5.85 5.92 11.77

The total column of this statement represents the Group’s Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, prepared in accordance 
with IFRS. The supplementary revenue return and capital return columns are both prepared under guidance published by the Association of 
Investment Companies.

All revenue and capital items in the above statement are derived from continuing operations. No operations were discontinued in the year. 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2025
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Notes

As at  
30 June 2025 

£’000

As at  
30 June 2024 

£’000

Non-current assets
Investment properties 9 840,432 831,573
Trade and other receivables 10 101,861 88,426
Interest rate derivatives 13 – 2,820

942,293 922,819
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 10 3,682 5,667
Interest rate derivatives 13 572 –
Cash and cash equivalents 12 39,639 38,884

43,893 44,551

Total assets 986,186 967,370

Non-current liabilities
Loans 13 (148,439) (240,672)
Trade and other payables 14 (12,695) (9,893)

(161,134) (250,565)
Current liabilities
Loans 13 (91,852) –
Trade and other payables 14 (20,740) (27,512)

(112,592) (27,512)

Total liabilities (273,726) (278,077)

Net assets 712,460 689,293

Share capital and reserves
Share capital 15 6,202 6,202
Share premium 256,633 256,633
Merger reserve 47,751 47,751
Distributable reserve 160,531 170,347
Hedging reserve 291 1,741
Capital reserve 101,499 77,668
Revenue reserve 139,553 128,951

Equity shareholders’ funds 712,460 689,293

Net asset value per ordinary share (pence) 8 114.9 111.1

Company number: 11990238.

The financial statements on pages 66 to 87 were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 13 October 2025 and were 
signed on its behalf by:

Alison Fyfe
Chair

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2025
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Note

Share 
capital  
£’000

Share 
premium  

£’000

Merger 
reserve  

£’000

Distributable 
reserve  

£’000

Hedging 
reserve  

£’000

Capital 
reserve  

£’000

Revenue 
reserve  

£’000
Total  

£’000

At 30 June 2024 6,202 256,633 47,751 170,347 1,741 77,668 128,951 689,293

Profit for the year – – – – – 23,831 37,014 60,845
Other comprehensive income – – – – (1,450) – – (1,450)

Total comprehensive income – – – – (1,450) 23,831 37,014 59,395

Transactions with owners 
recognised in equity:

Dividends paid 7 – – – (9,816) – – (26,412) (36,228)

At 30 June 2025 6,202 256,633 47,751 160,531 291 101,499 139,553 712,460

For the year ended 30 June 2024

Note

Share 
capital
£’000

Share
premium

£’000

Merger 
reserve

£’000

Distributable 
reserve

£’000

Hedging 
reserve

£’000

Capital 
reserve

£’000

Revenue
reserve

£’000
Total

£’000

At 30 June 2023 6,202 256,633 47,751 187,887 5,026 40,914 110,395 654,808

Profit for the year – – – – – 36,754 36,270 73,024
Other comprehensive income – – – – (3,285) – – (3,285)

Total comprehensive income – – – – (3,285) 36,754 36,270 69,739

Transactions with owners 
recognised in equity:

Dividends paid 7 – – – (17,540) – – (17,714) (35,254)

At 30 June 2024 6,202 256,633 47,751 170,347 1,741 77,668 128,951 689,293

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2025
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Notes

Year ended
30 June 2025

£’000

Year ended
30 June 2024

£’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax 60,845 73,024
Adjustments for:
Interest income (426) (66)
Finance costs 11,457 11,666
Revaluation gain on investment properties and movements in lease incentives,  

net of acquisition costs written off 9 (23,085) (35,620)
Gain on investment properties realised 9 (39) (1,934)
Decrease in trade and other receivables 1,367 3,083
Increase in trade and other payables 646 2,088

50,765 52,241

Interest paid (10,090) (9,962)
Interest received 426 66

(9,664) (9,896)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 41,101 42,345

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of investment properties, including acquisition costs (12,985) (40,927)
Disposal of investment properties, net of lease incentives 9,753 44,344

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing activities (3,232) 3,417

Cash flows from financing activities
Drawdown of bank loan facilities 13 13,000 52,500
Repayment of bank loan facilities 13 (14,000) (39,500)
Dividends paid (36,114) (35,244)

Net cash outflow from financing activities (37,114) (22,244)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 755 23,518
Opening cash and cash equivalents 38,884 15,366

Closing cash and cash equivalents 12 39,639 38,884

Transactions which do not require the use of cash
Movement in fixed or guaranteed rent reviews 9 10,841 10,927
Movement in lease incentives 9 359 839
Fixed or guaranteed rent reviews derecognised on disposal or re-tenanting 9 (559) (1,449)

Total 10,641 10,317

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2025
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1. Accounting policies
(a) Basis of preparation
A summary of the principal accounting policies, all of which have been applied consistently throughout the year, is set out below.

Basis of accounting
These Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared and approved in accordance with UK-adopted International Financial  
Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’), applicable legal and regulatory requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and the UK Listing Rules of the  
Financial Conduct Authority.

Where presentational guidance set out in the Statement of Recommended Practice (‘SORP’) for investment trust companies issued by the 
Association of Investment Companies (‘AIC’) in July 2022 is consistent with the requirements of IFRS, the Directors have sought to prepare the 
Consolidated Financial Statements on a basis compliant with the recommendations of the SORP.

The notes and financial statements are presented in pounds sterling (being the functional currency and presentation currency for the Company) 
and are rounded to the nearest thousand except where otherwise indicated.

Applicable standards and interpretations
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year, except that the following new amendment to the 
standards has become effective in the current year:
•	 Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current: In January 2020 and October 2022, the IASB issued 

amendments to specify the requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments clarify: 
	– What is meant by a right to defer settlement;
	– That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period;
	– That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right; and
	– That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact  

its classification.
	 In addition, a requirement has been introduced to require disclosure when a liability arising from a loan agreement is classified as  

non-current and the entity’s right to defer settlement is contingent on compliance with future covenants within twelve months.  
The amendments are applied retrospectively.

This amendment does not have an impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group.

Standards issued but not yet effective
•	 IFRS 18: Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements: In April 2024, the IASB issued IFRS 18, which replaces IAS 1. IFRS 18 sets out 

general presentation and disclosure requirements that apply across the primary financial statements and the notes but does not change how 
entities recognise and measure items in the financial statements. This includes the requirement for presentation of two new defined subtotals 
in the Income Statement. It also requires disclosure of management-defined performance measures and includes new requirements for 
aggregation and disaggregation of financial information based on the identified ‘roles’ of the primary financial statements and the notes. 
The amendments may become effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with early application permitted, 
and with any changes being applied retrospectively. However, this standard has not yet been endorsed for use in the UK.

The Group does not consider that the future adoption of any new standards, amended standards or interpretations, in the form currently 
available, will have any material impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements as presented.

Significant estimates
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported for assets 
and liabilities as at the balance sheet date and the amounts reported for revenue and expenses during the period. The nature of the estimation 
means that actual outcomes could differ from those estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 

Revaluation of investment properties (estimate)
Significant estimates and assumptions are made in the valuation of the investment properties. The Group engaged an independent valuation 
specialist to assess fair values for the investment properties. The key assumptions used to determine the fair value of the properties and 
sensitivity analyses are provided in Notes 9 and 16.

Other estimates
Provision for expected credit losses of accrued rent and trade receivables (estimate)
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate expected credit losses for accrued rent and trade receivables. The provision rates are initially 
based on the Group’s historical observed default rates, adjusted for forward-looking information. At every reporting date, the historical 
observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed. Where historical portfolio losses are not 
thought an appropriate measure of expected credit losses based on the circumstances of particular tenants, the expected credit losses are 
calculated by identifying scenarios that specify the amount and timing of cash flows for particular outcomes based on the Group’s detailed 
knowledge, analysis and understanding of the financial standing of each individual rental income debtor (including, where appropriate, 
consideration of rental guarantees, rental deposits and other forms of surety). The expected credit loss is calculated by weighting the  
predicted loss under each scenario by an estimate of the probability of each of these outcomes.

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forward looking information and estimated credit losses is 
an estimate, as is the assessment of the correlation between the identification of the potential scenarios that may arise and the estimated 
probability of each such scenario occurring. The amount of estimated credit losses is sensitive to changes in the financial circumstances  
of individual tenants and in forward-looking information. Further details are provided in Notes 3 and 16.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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1. Accounting policies continued
(a) Basis of preparation continued
Going concern
The Directors have continued to place a particular focus on the appropriateness of adopting the going concern basis in preparing the financial 
statements for the year ended 30 June 2025. The Group’s going concern assessment particularly considered that:
•	 The value of the Group’s portfolio of assets significantly exceeds the value of its liabilities;
•	 The Group is contractually entitled to receive rental income which significantly exceeds its forecast expenses and loan interest; 
•	 The Group remains within its loan covenants, with a weighted average term to maturity of 4.2 years and a fixed interest rate on £230 million 

of the Group’s borrowings at 30 June 2025;
•	 The Group had bank loan facilities that were due to expire in November 2025 which resulted in the Group having negative net current 

assets at 30 June 2025. Subsequent to the balance sheet date, the Group successfully re-financed these loans; 
•	 The previous continuation vote that was required to be proposed under the Company’s Articles was passed with 100 per cent of the votes 

cast being in favour of the Company’s continuation. The next continuation vote under the Company’s Articles is required to be proposed at 
the AGM expected to be held in 2027. 

The forecast cash flows considered as part of the going concern assessment are based on the period from the date of approval of the 
financial statements to 31 December 2026 as contained in the Group’s five-year viability model (as set out on pages 38 and 39). The viability 
model is based on a severe but plausible downside scenario. Throughout this severe but plausible downside scenario the Group has sufficient 
cash reserves and is forecast to be able to remain within the financial covenants for each of its loan facilities for a period of at least twelve 
months from the date of approval of these financial statements. The Group has a significant balance of cash and undrawn debt available and 
the Group’s current policy is to prudently retain a proportion of this to ensure it can continue to pay the Group’s expenses and loan interest 
in the unlikely scenario that the level of rental income received deteriorates significantly. The proportion retained will be kept under review 
dependent on portfolio performance and market conditions.

Based on these considerations, the Directors consider that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence to 
31 December 2026, which is at least twelve months from the date of issuance of this report. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2025.

In preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Directors have considered the impact of climate change risk as set out on page 26. In 
line with IFRS, investment properties are valued at fair value based on open market valuations as described in Notes 1(h) and 9. The assessment 
of the open market valuation includes consideration of environmental matters and the condition of each property. The investment properties 
continue to be monitored by the Investment Manager and key considerations include EPC ratings as summarised at a portfolio level on page 9 
and their impact on the properties’ forecast compliance with forthcoming minimum energy efficiency standards. Having assessed the impact 
of climate change on the Group, the Directors concluded that it is not expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s going concern or 
viability assessment as described on pages 38 and 39.

(b) Basis of consolidation
The Consolidated Financial Statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries drawn up to 30 June 2025. 
Subsidiaries are those entities, including special purpose entities, controlled by the Company and further information is provided in Note 11. 
Control exists when the Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its investment with the investee and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power over the investee. In assessing control, potential voting rights that presently are exercisable are taken into account. 
The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the Consolidated Financial Statements from the date that control commences until the 
date that control ceases.

In preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements, intra group balances, transactions and unrealised gains or losses have been eliminated in full. 
Uniform accounting policies are adopted for all companies within the Group.

(c) Revenue recognition
Rental Income
Rental income arising on investment properties is accounted for in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on a straight line basis over the 
lease term taking account of the following:
•	 The lease agreements on the properties held within the Group’s property portfolio generally allow for regular increases in the contracted 

rental level in line with inflation, within a cap and a collar, or at a fixed level. Any rental income from such future fixed and minimum 
guaranteed rent review uplifts is recalculated to reflect the actual rent uplift realised in the period and is recognised on a straight line basis 
over the remainder of the lease term;

•	 Lease incentives are spread evenly over the lease term, even if payments are not made on such a basis. The lease term is the non-cancellable 
period of the lease together with any further term for which the tenant has the option to continue the lease where, at the inception of the 
lease, the Directors are reasonably certain that the tenant will exercise that option; and

•	 Contingent rents are recognised in the period in which they are received.

Where income is recognised in advance of the related cash flows due to fixed or minimum guaranteed rent review uplifts or lease incentives, 
an adjustment is made to ensure that the carrying value of the relevant property including the accrued rent relating to such uplifts or lease 
incentives does not exceed the external valuation.

Any rental income arising in the period due to the recognition of fixed or minimum guaranteed rent review uplifts on a straight line basis 
is recognised in the capital column of the Statement of Comprehensive Income. This is considered to be capital in nature as it represents 
a timing difference compared to the basis of recognition applied by the external valuers in determining the fair value of the investment 
properties, and therefore should be matched against the equal but opposite capital gain/(loss) on investment properties.

Other Rental Income
Surrender premiums receivable are recognised on the completion of an unconditional deed of surrender and are recognised in revenue where 
the receipt is in compensation for a reduction in rent or the granting of a rent free period to an incoming tenant, and in capital when the premium 
received is in compensation for a reduction in the capital value of the relevant property as a result of the tenant’s surrender of the lease.



Target Healthcare REIT plc 

72
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

1. Accounting policies continued
(c) Revenue recognition continued
Interest Income
Interest income is accounted for on an accruals basis.

Service charges and expenses recoverable from tenants
Income arising from expenses recharged to tenants is recognised in the period in which the compensation becomes receivable. Service 
charges and other such receipts are included gross of the related costs, as the Directors consider the Group acts as principal in this respect. 
Property-related expenses which are not recoverable from tenants are recognised in expenses on an accruals basis.

(d) Expenses
Expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis and are inclusive of irrecoverable VAT. The Group’s investment management and administration 
fees, finance costs and all other expenses are charged through the Statement of Comprehensive Income and are charged to revenue, except 
where such costs relate wholly to capital matters such as the reorganisation of the Group’s equity structure or the early repayment of its 
external loan facilities.

(e) Dividends
Dividends are accounted for in the period in which they are paid.

(f) Taxation
Taxation on the profit or loss for the period not exempt under UK-REIT regulations comprises current and deferred tax. Taxation is recognised 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income except to the extent that it relates to items recognised as direct movements in equity, in which 
case it is also recognised as a direct movement in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the period, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance 
sheet date.

Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on all temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it 
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which deductible temporary differences, carried forward tax credits or tax losses can be 
utilised. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities. In determining the expected manner of realisation of an asset the Directors consider that the Group will recover the value of investment 
property through sale. Deferred income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in profit or loss.

Entry to UK-REIT Regime
The Group entered the UK-REIT regime with effect from 1 June 2013. The Company entered the Group REIT regime with effect from 7 August 
2019, the date at which it become the parent company of the Group. The Group’s subsidiaries all enter the Group REIT regime on acquisition/
incorporation. Entry to the regime results in, subject to continuing relevant UK-REIT criteria being met, the profits of the Group’s property 
rental business, comprising both income and capital gains, being exempt from UK taxation.

The Group ensures that it complies with the UK-REIT regulations through monitoring the ongoing conditions required to maintain REIT status.

(g) Property acquisitions
Where property is acquired, via corporate acquisitions or otherwise, management considers the substance of the assets and activities of the 
acquired entity in determining whether the acquisition represents the acquisition of a business or the acquisition of an asset.

Where such acquisitions are not judged to be an acquisition of a business, they are not treated as business combinations. Rather, the cost to 
acquire the corporate entity is allocated between the identifiable assets and liabilities of the entity based on their relative fair values at the acquisition 
date. Accordingly, no goodwill or additional deferred taxation arises. Otherwise, acquisitions are accounted for as business combinations.

(h) Investment properties
Investment properties consist of land and buildings (principally care homes) which are not occupied for use by, or in the operations of, the Group, 
nor for sale in the ordinary course of business, but are held to earn rental income together with the potential for capital and income growth.

Investment properties are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of consideration given, including transaction costs associated with 
the investment property. Any subsequent capital expenditure incurred in improving investment properties is capitalised in the period incurred 
and included within the book cost of the property.

For properties subject to contingent performance payment clauses within their purchase agreements, which will result in a further payment 
if certain performance measures are met, this performance payment is recognised as a liability when the contracted performance conditions 
have been met and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount. Any performance payment made will result in an increase in rental 
income receivable from the tenant, to maintain the investment yield from the property, and therefore an asset of approximately equal value is 
recognised to reflect the fair value of this increase in rental income.

Development interest (where income is receivable from a developer in respect of a forward-funding agreement) is deducted from the cost of 
investment and shown as a receivable until settled.

After initial recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value, with gains and losses recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. Fair value is based on the open market valuation, as provided by CBRE Limited, in their capacity as external valuers, at the balance 
sheet date using recognised valuation techniques, appropriately adjusted for unamortised lease incentives and rental adjustments.
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1. Accounting policies continued
(h) Investment properties continued
The determination of the fair value of investment properties requires the use of estimates such as future cash flows from assets (such as lettings, 
tenants’ profiles, future revenue streams, capital values of fixtures and fittings, plant and machinery, any environmental matters and the overall 
repair and condition of the property) and discount rates applicable to those assets. These estimates are based on local market conditions 
existing at the balance sheet date.

On derecognition, gains and losses on disposals of investment properties are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and 
transferred to the Capital Reserve. Recognition and derecognition occurs on the completion of a sale between a willing buyer and a willing seller.

(i) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand and short-term deposits in banks with an original maturity of three months or less.

(j) Rent and other receivables
Rent receivables are carried at amortised cost. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is calculated through the expected credit loss 
method in accordance with IFRS 9 as explained in ‘other estimates’ on page 70. As part of this expected credit loss process the following is 
taken into account: significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, 
and default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 days overdue). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through use of an 
allowance account and the amount of loss is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, separately disclosed as an impairment. 
Bad debts are written off once all avenues to recover the debt have been exhausted and the lease has ended, or a formal settlement 
agreement has been reached.

Other incentives provided to tenants and fixed or guaranteed rental uplifts are recognised as an asset and amortised over the period from the 
date of lease commencement to the earliest termination date.

(k) Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair value and net of directly attributable transaction costs. After initial recognition, all 
interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Amortised cost is 
calculated by taking into account any loan arrangement costs and any discount or premium on settlement.

(l) Derivative financial instruments
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its risk associated with interest rate fluctuations. The Group’s policy is not to trade in 
derivative instruments.

Derivative instruments are initially recognised in the Statement of Financial Position at their fair value. Fair value is determined by using a 
model to calculate the net present value of future market interest rates or by using market values for similar instruments. Transaction costs are 
expensed immediately.

The effective portion of the gains or losses arising on the fair value of cash flow hedges in the form of derivative instruments is reported 
through Other Comprehensive Income and is recognised through the Hedging Reserve. The ineffective portion is recognised through 
profit or loss in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. On maturity, or early redemption, of the derivative instrument the unrealised 
gains or losses arising from cash flow hedges in the form of derivative instruments, initially recognised in Other Comprehensive Income, 
are reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the profit or loss, or when the forecast 
transaction is no longer expected to occur.

The Group considers that its interest rate derivatives qualify for hedge accounting when the following criteria are satisfied:
•	 The instruments must be related to an asset or liability;
•	 They must change the character of the interest rate by converting a variable rate to a fixed rate or vice versa;
•	 They must match the principal amounts and maturity dates of the hedged items;
•	 As cash-flow hedges, the forecast transactions (incurring interest payable on the bank loans) that are subject to the hedges must be highly 

probable and must present an exposure to variations in cash flows that could ultimately affect the profit or loss;
•	 The hedge must be effective meaning that there must be an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument; 

the effect of credit risk must not dominate the value changes that result from that economic relationship; and the hedge ratio of the 
hedging relationship must be the same as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item that the Group actually hedges and the 
quantity of the hedging instrument that the Group actually uses to hedge that quantity of hedged item; and

•	 At the inception of the hedge there must be formal designation and documentation of the hedging relationship and the Group’s risk 
management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge.

(m) Reserves
Share Premium
The share premium account represents the difference between the issue price of shares and their nominal value (excluding those issued as 
part of the Group reconstruction). This reserve is non-distributable.

Merger Reserve
The merger reserve arose on the reconstruction of the Group in August 2019 (the ‘Group Reconstruction’) and represents the difference 
between the nominal value and the fair value of the shares issued by the Company in exchange for the shares of the Group’s previous parent 
company, Target Healthcare REIT Limited. This reserve is non-distributable.
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1. Accounting policies continued
(m) Reserves continued
Distributable Reserve
The distributable reserve represents the balance arising following the reduction of the nominal value of the shares issued as part of the Group 
Reconstruction from £1.00 per share to £0.01 per share, as approved by the High Court in September 2019. The distributable reserve was 
reduced by the difference between the fair value of the shares allotted by the Company, in exchange for the shares of Target Healthcare REIT 
Limited, and the stated capital of Target Healthcare REIT Limited immediately prior to the Group Reconstruction. 

This reserve is distributable. Any dividends paid in excess of the balance of the revenue reserve in the Company Financial Statements will be 
charged to this reserve.

Hedging Reserve
The following are accounted for in the hedging reserve:
•	 Increases and decreases in the fair value of interest rate derivatives held at the period end.

Capital Reserve
The following are accounted for in the capital reserve:
•	 Gains and losses on the disposal of investment properties;
•	 Gains and losses on the disposal of properties held for sale;
•	 Increases and decreases in the fair value of investment properties and properties held for sale which are held at the period end;
•	 Rent adjustments which represent the effect of spreading uplifts and incentives;
•	 Other expenses or finance costs charged to the capital column of the Statement of Comprehensive Income;
•	 Taxation arising on the acquisition or disposal of investment properties or properties held for sale;
•	 Recovery of any cost/tax where the original expense/tax has also been charged to capital; and
•	 The buyback of shares into, and resale of shares from, treasury.

Revenue Reserve
The net profit/(loss) arising in the revenue column of the Statement of Comprehensive Income is added to or deducted from this reserve 
which, in addition to the distributable reserve, is available for paying dividends.

2. Fee paid to the Investment Manager
Year ended

30 June 2025
£’000

Year ended
30 June 2024

£’000

Investment management fee 7,816 7,518

Total 7,816 7,518

The Group’s Investment Manager and Alternative Investment Fund Manager (‘AIFM’) is Target Fund Managers Limited. The Investment Manager 
is entitled to an annual management fee calculated on a tiered basis based on the net assets of the Group as set out below. Where applicable, 
VAT is payable in addition.

Net assets of the Group
Management fee 

percentage

Up to and including £500 million 1.05
Above £500 million and up to and including £750 million 0.95
Above £750 million and up to and including £1 billion 0.85
Above £1 billion and up to and including £1.5 billion 0.75
Above £1.5 billion 0.65

The Investment Manager is entitled to an additional fee of £160,000 per annum (plus VAT), increasing annually in line with inflation, in relation 
to its appointment as Company Secretary and Administrator to the Group. 

The Investment Management Agreement can be terminated by either party on 24 months’ written notice. Should the Company terminate the 
Investment Management Agreement earlier then compensation in lieu of notice will be payable to the Investment Manager. The Investment 
Management Agreement may be terminated immediately without compensation if the Investment Manager: is in material breach of the 
agreement; is guilty of negligence, wilful default or fraud; is the subject of insolvency proceedings; or there occurs a change of Key Managers 
to which the Board has not given its prior consent.
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3. Other expenses	
Year ended

30 June 2025
£’000

Year ended
30 June 2024

£’000

Total movement in credit loss allowance 1,612 962
Bad debts written off – –

Credit loss allowance charge 1,612 962

Valuation and other professional fees 1,601 1,107
Auditor’s remuneration for:
– statutory audit of the Company 167 181
– statutory audit of the Company’s subsidiaries 286 277
– review of interim financial information 17 16
Other taxation compliance and advisory* 382 271
Direct property costs 267 199
Secretarial and administration fees 229 229
Directors’ fees 227 227

Public relations and marketing 185 179
Printing, postage and website 146 100
Listing and Registrar fees 134 115
Abortive costs 81 9
Other 185 164

Total other expenses 3,907 3,074

*	 The other taxation compliance and advisory fees were all paid to parties other than the Company’s Auditor.

The valuers of the investment properties, CBRE Limited, have agreed to provide valuation services in respect of the property portfolio.  
The valuation agreement states that annual fees will be payable quarterly at a rate of £614 per property per quarter (including VAT).

During the year ended 30 June 2025, the Group incurred additional one-off costs related to the administration of the tenant entity at one of 
its care home properties. These are primarily included in ‘valuation and other professional fees’ above. Further details are provided in the case 
study entitled ‘Successful re-tenanting after operator in administration’ on page 19.

Expenses are inclusive of irrecoverable VAT as the Company, and the majority of its subsidiaries, are not VAT registered.

4. Interest income
Year ended

30 June 2025
£’000

Year ended
30 June 2024

£’000

Deposit interest 426 66

Total 426 66

5. Finance costs
Year ended

30 June 2025
£’000

Year ended
30 June 2024

£’000

Interest paid on loans 10,040 10,245
Amortisation of loan costs 619 621
Finance and transaction costs relating to the interest rate cap 798 800

Total 11,457 11,666

6. Taxation
Year ended

30 June 2025
£’000

Year ended
30 June 2024

£’000

Current tax – –
Adjustment to tax charge for prior years – –

Total tax charge – –
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6. Taxation continued
A reconciliation of the corporation tax charge applicable to the results at the statutory corporation tax rate to the charge for the year is as follows:

Year ended
30 June 2025

£’000

Year ended
30 June 2024

£’000

Profit before tax 60,845 73,024

Tax at 25% (2024: 25%) 15,211 18,256
Effects of:
REIT exempt profits (10,101) (8,964)
REIT exempt (gains)/losses (2,890) (6,215)
Capital allowances (2,286) (2,476)
Utilisation of excess management expenses brought forward (162) (809)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 228 208

Total tax charge – –

The Directors intend to conduct the Company’s affairs such that management and control is exercised in the United Kingdom and so that the 
Company carries on any trade in the United Kingdom.

Subject to continuing relevant UK-REIT criteria being met, the profits from the Group’s property rental business, arising from both income and 
capital gains, are exempt from corporation tax.

The Group has unutilised tax losses carried forward in its residual business of £10.5 million at 30 June 2025 (2024: £11.2 million). No deferred 
tax asset has been recognised on this amount as the Group cannot be certain that there will be taxable profits arising within its residual 
business from which the future reversal of the deferred tax asset could be deducted.

7. Dividends	
Amounts paid as distributions to equity holders during the year to 30 June 2025.	

Dividend rate 
(pence per

share)

Year ended 
30 June 2025

£’000

Fourth interim dividend for the year ended 30 June 2024 1.428 8,857
First interim dividend for the year ended 30 June 2025 1.471 9,123
Second interim dividend for the year ended 30 June 2025 1.471 9,124
Third interim dividend for the year ended 30 June 2025 1.471 9,124

Total 5.841 36,228

Amounts paid as distributions to equity holders during the year to 30 June 2024.	
Dividend rate 

(pence per
share)

Year ended 
30 June 2024

£’000

Fourth interim dividend for the year ended 30 June 2023 1.400 8,683
First interim dividend for the year ended 30 June 2024 1.428 8,857
Second interim dividend for the year ended 30 June 2024 1.428 8,857
Third interim dividend for the year ended 30 June 2024 1.428 8,857

Total 5.684 35,254

It is the policy of the Directors to declare and pay dividends as interim dividends. The Directors do not therefore recommend a final dividend.
The fourth interim dividend in respect of the year ended 30 June 2025, of 1.471 pence per share, was paid on 29 August 2025 to shareholders 
on the register on 15 August 2025 and amounted to £9,124,000. It is the intention of the Directors that the Group will continue to pay 
dividends quarterly.

8. Earnings per share and Net Asset Value per share
Earnings per share

Year ended 30 June 2025 Year ended 30 June 2024

£’000 Pence per share £’000 Pence per share

Revenue earnings 37,014 5.97 36,270 5.85
Capital earnings 23,831 3.84 36,754 5.92
Total earnings 60,845 9.81 73,024 11.77

Average number of shares in issue 620,237,346 620,237,346

There were no dilutive shares or potentially dilutive shares in issue.
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8. Earnings per share and Net Asset Value per share continued
Earnings per share continued
EPRA is an industry body which issues best practice reporting guidelines for financial disclosures by public real estate companies and the 
Group reports an EPRA NAV quarterly. EPRA has issued best practice recommendations for the calculation of certain figures which are 
included below. Other EPRA measures are included in the EPRA Performance Measures on pages 105 and 106.

The EPRA earnings are arrived at by adjusting for the revaluation movements on investment properties and other items of a capital nature  
and represents the revenue earned by the Group.

The Group’s specific adjusted EPRA earnings adjusts the EPRA earnings for rental income arising from recognising guaranteed rental review uplifts 
and for development interest received from developers in relation to monies advanced under forward fund agreements which, in the Group’s 
IFRS financial statements, is required to be offset against the book cost of the property under development. The Board believes that the Group’s 
specific adjusted EPRA earnings represents the underlying performance measure appropriate for the Group’s business model as it illustrates the 
underlying revenue stream and costs generated by the Group’s property portfolio. The reconciliations are provided in the table below:

Year ended 
30 June 2025

£’000

Year ended 
30 June 2024

£’000

Earnings per IFRS Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 60,845 73,024
Adjusted for gains on investment properties realised (39) (1,934)
Adjusted for revaluations of investment properties (12,244) (24,693)
Adjusted for finance and transaction costs on the interest rate cap 798 800
Adjusted for other capital items (1,505) –

EPRA earnings 47,855 47,197
Adjusted for rental income arising from recognising guaranteed rent review uplifts (10,841) (10,927)
Adjusted for development interest under forward fund agreements 725 1,767

Group specific adjusted EPRA earnings 37,739 38,037

Earnings per share (‘EPS’) (pence per share)
EPS per IFRS Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 9.81 11.77
EPRA EPS 7.72 7.61
Group specific adjusted EPRA EPS 6.08 6.13

Net Asset Value per share
The Group’s Net Asset Value per ordinary share of 114.9 pence (2024: 111.1 pence) is based on equity shareholders’ funds of £712,460,000 
(2024: £689,293,000) and on 620,237,346 (2024: 620,237,346) ordinary shares, being the number of shares in issue at the year-end.

The EPRA best practice recommendations include a set of EPRA NAV metrics that are arrived at by adjusting the net asset value calculated 
under International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) to provide stakeholders with what EPRA believe to be the most relevant information 
on the fair value of the assets and liabilities of a real estate investment company, under different scenarios. The three EPRA NAV metrics are:
•	 EPRA Net Reinstatement Value (‘NRV’): Assumes that entities never sell assets and aims to represent the value required to rebuild the 

entity. The objective is to highlight the value of net assets on a long-term basis. Assets and liabilities that are not expected to crystallise 
in normal circumstances, such as the fair value movements on financial derivatives, are excluded and the costs of recreating the Group 
through investment markets, such as property acquisition costs and taxes, are included.

•	 EPRA Net Tangible Assets (‘NTA’): Assumes that entities buy and sell assets, thereby crystallising certain levels of unavoidable deferred tax. 
Given the Group’s REIT status, it is not expected that significant deferred tax will be applicable to the Group.

•	 EPRA Net Disposal Value (‘NDV’): Represents the shareholders’ value under a disposal scenario, where deferred tax, financial instruments 
and certain other adjustments are calculated to the full extent of their liability, net of any resulting tax. At 30 June 2025, the Group held all 
its material balance sheet items at fair value, or at a value considered to be a close approximation to fair value, in its financial statements 
apart from its fixed-rate debt facilities where the fair value is estimated to be lower than the nominal value. See Note 13 for further details 
on the Group’s loan facilities.

2025 
EPRA NRV 

£’000

2025 
EPRA NTA 

£’000

2025 
EPRA NDV 

£’000

2024 
EPRA NRV 

£’000

2024 
EPRA NTA 

£’000

2024 
EPRA NDV 

£’000

IFRS NAV per financial statements 712,460 712,460 712,460 689,293 689,293 689,293
Fair value of interest rate derivatives (572) (572) – (2,820) (2,820) –
Fair value adjustment to loans – – 27,929 – – 29,780
Estimated purchasers’ costs 62,175 – – 60,026 – –

EPRA net assets 774,063 711,888 740,389 746,499 686,473 719,073

EPRA net assets (pence per share) 124.8 114.8 119.4 120.4 110.7 115.9
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9. Investment properties
Freehold and leasehold properties

As at
30 June 2025 

£’000

As at
30 June 2024 

£’000

Opening market value 908,530 868,705
Opening fixed or guaranteed rent reviews (68,856) (59,378)
Opening lease incentives (10,011) (9,172)
Opening performance payments (see Note 18) 1,910 –

Opening carrying value 831,573 800,155

Disposals	–  proceeds (9,753) (44,344)
		  –  (loss)/gain on sale (542) 1,382
Purchases and performance payments 7,650 45,444
Acquisition costs capitalised 30 332
Acquisition costs written off (30) (332)
Unrealised loss realised during the year 581 552
Revaluation movement – gains 25,484 45,496
Revaluation movement – losses (2,010) (8,705)

Movement in market value 21,410 39,825
Fixed or guaranteed rent reviews derecognised on disposal or re-tenanting 559 1,449
Movement in fixed or guaranteed rent reviews (10,841) (10,927)
Movement in lease incentives (359) (839)
Movement in performance payments (see Note 18) (1,910) 1,910

Movement in carrying value 8,859 31,418

Closing market value 929,940 908,530
Closing fixed or guaranteed rent reviews (79,138) (68,856)
Closing lease incentives (10,370) (10,011)
Closing performance payments (see Note 18) – 1,910

Closing carrying value 840,432 831,573

Changes in the valuation of investment properties
Year ended 

30 June 2025
£’000

Year ended 
30 June 2024

£’000

(Loss)/gain on sale of investment properties (542) 1,382
Unrealised loss realised during the year 581 552

Gain on investment properties realised 39 1,934

Revaluation movement 23,474 36,791
Acquisition costs written off (30) (332)
Movement in fixed or guaranteed rent reviews (10,841) (10,927)
Movement in lease incentives (359) (839)

Gain on revaluation of investment properties 12,244 24,693

The investment properties can be analysed as follows: 
As at

30 June 2025 
£’000

As at
30 June 2024 

£’000

Standing assets 921,080 889,255
Developments under forward fund agreements 8,860 19,275

Closing market value 929,940 908,530

At 30 June 2025, the properties were valued at £929,940,000 (2024: £908,530,000) by CBRE Limited (‘CBRE’) in their capacity as external 
valuers. The valuation was undertaken in accordance with the RICS Valuation – Global Standards, issued by the Royal Institution of Chartered 
Surveyors (‘RICS’) on the basis of Market Value, supported by reference to market evidence of transaction prices for similar properties. CBRE 
has recent experience in the location and category of the investment properties being valued.
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9. Investment properties continued
Market Value represents the estimated amount for which an asset or liability should exchange on the valuation date between a willing buyer and 
a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction, after proper marketing where the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without 
compulsion. The quarterly property valuations are reviewed by the Board at each Board meeting. The fair value of the properties after adjusting 
for the movement in the fixed or guaranteed rent reviews, lease incentives and performance payments was £840,432,000 (2024: £831,573,000). 
The adjustment consisted of £79,138,000 (2024: £68,856,000) relating to fixed or guaranteed rent reviews and £10,370,000 (2024: £10,011,000) 
of accrued income relating to the recognition of rental income over rent free periods subsequently amortised over the life of the lease, which 
are both separately recorded in the accounts as non-current or current assets within ‘trade and other receivables’ (see Note 10). An adjustment 
is also made, where applicable, to reflect the amount by which the portfolio value is expected to increase if the performance payments 
recognised in ‘trade and other payables’ are paid and the passing rent at the relevant property increased accordingly (see Notes 14 and 18).  
The total purchases in the year to 30 June 2025, inclusive of the performance payments recognised in the year and/or exclusive of those 
recognised in the prior year, were £5,740,000 (2024: £47,354,000).

All leasehold properties are carried at fair value rather than amortised over the term of the lease. The same valuation criteria are therefore 
applied to leasehold as freehold properties. Other than one property where the leasehold expires in 2265, all leasehold properties have more 
than 800 years remaining on the lease term.

The Group’s investment properties have been valued by CBRE on a quarterly basis. The valuation methodology used is the yield model, which 
is a consistent basis for the valuation of investment properties within the healthcare industry. This model has regard to the current investment 
market and evidence of investor interest in properties with income streams secured on healthcare businesses. On an asset-specific basis, 
the valuer makes an assessment of: the quality of the asset; recent and current performance of the asset; and the financial position and 
performance of the tenant operator. This asset specific information is used alongside a review of comparable transactions in the market and a 
yield is applied to the asset which, along with the contracted rental level, is used to derive a market value.

The real estate investment and occupier markets are currently in a state of transition as they begin to align themselves with the sustainable 
development goals of government and the new generation of real estate users. For the purposes of the valuation, CBRE have made enquiries 
to ascertain any sustainability factors which are likely to impact on property values and have considered the guidance provided by the RICS 
and VPGA 8 of the Red Book. Sustainability encompasses a wide range of physical, social, environmental, and economic factors that can 
affect the value of an asset, even if not explicitly recognised. This includes key environmental risks, such as flooding, energy efficiency and 
climate, as well as design, legislation and management considerations – and current and historical land use.

The external valuations reflect CBRE’s understanding of how market participants include sustainability factors in their decisions and the 
consequential impact on market valuations, although there is still a gap in the exact knowledge of valuation of sustainability features of a green 
premium or brown discount. Green building certifications, and reducing energy consumption and carbon emissions, are factors considered 
likely to impact on real estate decisions and property values. 

The Group is required to classify fair value measurements of its investment properties using a fair value hierarchy, in accordance with IFRS 13 
‘Fair Value Measurement’. This hierarchy reflects the subjectivity of the inputs used, and has the following levels:
•	 Level 1: unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date;
•	 Level 2: observable inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1;
•	 Level 3: use of inputs that are not based on observable market data.

In determining what level of the fair value hierarchy to classify the Group’s investments within, the Directors have considered the content and 
conclusion of the position paper on IFRS 13 prepared by the European Public Real Estate Association (‘EPRA’), the representative body of the 
publicly listed real estate industry in Europe. This paper concludes that, even in the most transparent and liquid markets, it is likely that valuers 
of investment property will use one or more significant unobservable inputs or make at least one significant adjustment to an observable 
input, resulting in the vast majority of investment properties being classified as level 3.

Observable market data is considered to be that which is readily available, regularly distributed or updated, reliable and verifiable, not 
proprietary, and provided by independent sources that are actively involved in the relevant market. In arriving at the valuation the external 
valuers make adjustments to observable data of similar properties and transactions to determine the fair value of a property and this involves 
the use of judgement. Considering the Group’s specific valuation process, industry guidance, and the level of judgement required in the 
valuation process, the Directors believe it appropriate to classify the Group’s investment properties within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

The key unobservable inputs made in determining the fair values are:
•	 Contracted rental level: the rent payable under the lease agreement at the date of valuation or, where applicable, on expiry of the rent free 

period; and
•	 Yield: the yield is defined as the initial net income from a property at the date of valuation, expressed as a percentage of the gross purchase 

price including the costs of purchase.

The contracted rental level and yield are not directly correlated although they may be influenced by similar factors. Rent is set at a long-term, 
supportable level and is likely to be influenced by property-specific matters. The yield also reflects market sentiment and the strength of the 
covenant provided by the tenant with a stronger covenant attracting a lower yield.

The Group’s investment properties, which are all care homes, are considered to be a single class of assets. The weighted average net initial yield (‘NIY’) 
on these assets, as measured by the EPRA topped up NIY, is 6.2 per cent (2024: 6.2 per cent). The yield on the majority of the individual assets ranges 
from 5.6 per cent to 8.9 per cent (2024: 5.5 per cent to 8.9 per cent). The average annual contracted rent per bed is £9,696 (2024: £9,292) with the 
annual contracted rent per bed on individual assets ranging between £5,093 and £21,033 (2024: between £4,919 and £20,481). There have been no 
changes to the valuation technique used through the period, nor have there been any transfers between levels.

The lease agreements on the properties held within the Group’s property portfolio generally allow for annual increases in the contracted 
rental level in line with inflation, within a cap and a collar. An increase of 1.0 per cent in the contracted rental level will increase the fair value  
of the portfolio, and consequently the Group’s reported income from unrealised gains on investments, by £9,299,000 (2024: £9,085,000);  
an equal and opposite movement would have decreased net assets and decreased the Group’s income by the same amount.
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9. Investment properties continued
A decrease of 0.25 per cent in the weighted average net initial yield applied to the portfolio will increase the fair value of the portfolio by 
£38,690,000 (2024: £37,901,000), and consequently increase the Group’s reported income from unrealised gains on investments. An increase 
of 0.25 per cent in the weighted average net initial yield will decrease the fair value of the portfolio by £35,718,000 (2024: £34,982,000) and 
reduce the Group’s income.

10. Trade and other receivables

Non-current trade and other receivables

As at 
30 June 2025

£’000

As at 
30 June 2024

£’000

Fixed rent reviews 79,138 68,856
Rental deposits held in escrow for tenants 12,695 9,893
Lease incentives 10,028 9,677

Total 101,861 88,426

Current trade and other receivables

As at 
30 June 2025

£’000

As at 
30 June 2024

£’000

Lease incentives 342 334
VAT recoverable 47 1,624
Accrued income – rent receivable 1,089 890
Accrued development interest under forward fund agreements 809 1,076
Other debtors and prepayments 1,395 1,743

Total 3,682 5,667

At the year-end, trade and other receivables include a fixed rent review debtor of £79,138,000 (2024: £68,856,000) which represents the effect 
of recognising guaranteed rental uplifts on a straight line basis over the lease term and £10,370,000 (2024: £10,011,000) of accrued income 
relating to the recognition of rental income over rent free periods subsequently amortised over the life of the lease.

11. Investment in subsidiary undertakings
The Group included 50 subsidiary companies as at 30 June 2025 (2024: 49). All subsidiary companies were wholly owned, either directly or 
indirectly, by the Company and, from the date of acquisition onwards, the principal activity of each company within the Group was to act as 
an investment and property company. Other than one subsidiary incorporated in Jersey, two subsidiaries incorporated in Gibraltar and two 
subsidiaries incorporated in Luxembourg, all subsidiaries are incorporated within the United Kingdom.

The Group incorporated one subsidiary during the year, with the intention that this be used in due course to hold potential forward fund 
development(s). The Group did not acquire or dispose of any subsidiaries during the year (2024: the Group did not incorporate, acquire or 
dispose of any subsidiaries during the year).

12. Cash and cash equivalents
All cash balances at the year-end were held in cash, current accounts or deposit accounts.

As at
30 June 2025

£’000

As at
30 June 2024

£’000

Cash at bank and in hand 11,302 15,813
Short-term deposits 28,337 23,071

Total 39,639 38,884

The cash on deposit at 30 June 2025 included £28,226,000 (2024: £22,989,000) held in a secured account in relation to the loan from 
Phoenix Group following disposals made by the Group. The use of this cash is restricted until the Group either partially repays the loan or 
pledges replacement assets as security. As at 30 June 2025, the Group had sufficient unencumbered assets which could be pledged as 
additional security in order to release these funds.

13. Loans

Non-current loans

As at
30 June 2025

£’000

As at
30 June 2024

£’000

Principal amount outstanding 150,000 243,000
Set-up costs (2,413) (4,520)
Amortisation of set-up costs 852 2,192

Total 148,439 240,672

Current loans

As at
30 June 2025

£’000

As at
30 June 2024

£’000

Principal amount outstanding 92,000 –
Set-up costs (2,107) –
Amortisation of set-up costs 1,959 –

Total 91,852 –
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13. Loans continued
In November 2020, the Group entered into a £70,000,000 committed term loan and revolving credit facility with the Royal Bank of Scotland plc 
(‘RBS’) which is repayable in November 2025. Interest accrues on the bank loan at a variable rate, based on SONIA plus margin and mandatory 
lending costs, and is payable quarterly. The margin is 2.18 per cent per annum on £50,000,000 of the facility and 2.33 per cent per annum 
on the remaining £20,000,000 revolving credit facility, both for the duration of the loan. A non-utilisation fee of 1.13 per cent per annum is 
payable on the first £20,000,000 of any undrawn element of the facility, reducing to 1.05 per cent per annum thereafter. As at 30 June 2025, 
the Group had drawn £42,000,000 under this facility (2024: £43,000,000).

In November 2020, the Group entered into a £100,000,000 revolving credit facility with HSBC Bank plc (‘HSBC’) which is repayable in 
November 2025. Interest accrues on the bank loan at a variable rate, based on SONIA plus margin and mandatory lending costs, and is payable 
quarterly. The margin is 2.17 per cent per annum for the duration of the loan and a non-utilisation fee of 0.92 per cent per annum is payable 
on any undrawn element of the facility. As at 30 June 2025, the Group had drawn £50,000,000 under this facility (2024: £50,000,000).
Subsequent to the year end, the RBS and HSBC facilities have each been refinanced. Refer to Note 20 for details.

In January 2020 and November 2021, the Group entered into committed term loan facilities with Phoenix Group of £50,000,000 and 
£37,250,000, respectively. Both these facilities are repayable on 12 January 2032. The Group has a further committed term loan facility with 
Phoenix Group of £62,750,000 which is repayable on 12 January 2037. Interest accrues on these three loans at aggregate annual fixed rates 
of interest of 3.28 per cent, 3.13 per cent and 3.14 per cent, respectively and is payable quarterly. As at 30 June 2025, the Group had drawn 
£150,000,000 under these facilities (2024: £150,000,000).

The following interest rate derivatives were in place during the year ended 30 June 2025:

Notional Value Starting Date Ending Date Interest paid Interest received Counterparty

30,000,000 5 November 2020 5 November 2025 0.30% Daily compounded SONIA (floor at -0.08%) RBS

50,000,000 1 November 2022 5 November 2025 nil Daily compounded SONIA above 3.0% cap HSBC

The Group paid a premium of £2,577,000, inclusive of transaction costs of £169,000, on entry into the £50,000,000 interest rate cap in 
November 2022.

At 30 June 2025, inclusive of the interest rate derivatives, the interest rate on £230,000,000 of the Group’s borrowings has been capped, 
including the amortisation of loan arrangement costs, at an all-in rate of 3.70 per cent per annum until at least 5 November 2025. The remaining 
£90,000,000 of debt, of which £12,000,000 was drawn at 30 June 2025, would, if fully drawn, carry interest at a variable rate equal to  
daily compounded SONIA plus a weighted average lending margin, including the amortisation of loan arrangement costs, of 2.46 per cent  
per annum.

The aggregate fair value of the interest rate derivatives held at 30 June 2025 was an asset of £572,000 (2024: £2,820,000). The Group 
categorises all interest rate derivatives as level 2 in the fair value hierarchy as they are valued with reference to published interest rates (see 
Note 9 for further explanation of the fair value hierarchy).

At 30 June 2025, the nominal value of the Group’s loans equated to £242,000,000 (2024: £243,000,000). Excluding the interest rate derivatives 
referred to above, the fair value of these loans, based on a discounted cashflow using the market rate on the relevant treasury plus an estimated 
margin based on market conditions at 30 June 2025, totalled, in aggregate, £214,071,000 (2024: £213,220,000). The payment required to 
redeem the loans in full, incorporating the terms of the Spens clause in relation to the Phoenix Group facilities, would have been £225,493,000 
(2024: £226,721,000). The loans are categorised as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy given the estimated margin is not observable market data.

The RBS loan is secured by way of a fixed and floating charge over the majority of the assets of the THR Number One plc Group (‘THR1 Group’) 
which consists of THR1 and its five subsidiaries. The Phoenix Group loans of £50,000,000 and £37,250,000 are secured by way of a fixed 
and floating charge over the majority of the assets of the THR Number 12 plc Group (‘THR12 Group’) which consists of THR12 and its eight 
subsidiaries. The Phoenix Group loan of £62,750,000 is secured by way of a fixed and floating charge over the majority of the assets of THR 
Number 43 plc (‘THR43’). The HSBC loan is secured by way of a fixed and floating charge over the majority of the assets of the THR Number 15 
plc Group (‘THR15 Group’) which consists of THR15 and its 18 subsidiaries. In aggregate, the Group has granted a fixed charge over properties 
with a market value of £754,390,000 as at 30 June 2025 (2024: £743,265,000). 

Under the covenants related to the loans, which are tested quarterly, the Group is to ensure that:
•	 the loan to value percentage for each of THR1 Group and THR15 Group does not exceed 50 per cent;
•	 the loan to value percentage for THR12 Group and THR43 does not exceed 60 per cent;
•	 the interest cover for THR1 Group is greater than 225 per cent on any calculation date;
•	 the interest cover for THR15 Group is greater than 200 per cent on any calculation date; and
•	 the debt yield for each of THR12 Group and THR43 is greater than 10 per cent on any calculation date.

The significant terms of the facilities remained unchanged and all loan covenants have been complied with during the year. 

Analysis of net debt:
Cash and cash 

equivalents
2025

£’000

Borrowing
2025

£’000

Net debt
2025

£’000

Cash and cash 
equivalents

2024
£’000

Borrowing
2024

£’000

Net debt
2024

£’000

Opening balance 38,884 (240,672) (201,788) 15,366 (227,051) (211,685)
Cash flows 755 1,000 1,755 23,518 (13,000) 10,518
Non-cash flows – (619) (619) – (621) (621)

Closing balance as at 30 June 39,639 (240,291) (200,652) 38,884 (240,672) (201,788)
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14. Trade and other payables

Non-current trade and other payables

As at 
30 June 2025

£’000

As at 
30 June 2024

£’000

Rental deposits 12,695 9,893

Total 12,695 9,893

Current trade and other payables

As at 
30 June 2025

£’000

As at 
30 June 2024

£’000

Rental income received in advance 10,463 10,146
Property acquisition and development costs accrued 3,218 8,790
Interest payable 2,225 2,275
Investment Manager’s fees payable 1,979 1,927
Performance payments – 1,910
Other payables 2,855 2,464

Total 20,740 27,512

The Group’s payment policy is to ensure settlement of supplier invoices in accordance with stated terms.

15. Share capital
Allotted, called-up and fully paid ordinary shares of £0.01 each

Number of 
shares £’000

Balance as at 30 June 2024 and 30 June 2025 620,237,346 6,202

Under the Company’s Articles of Association, the Company may issue an unlimited number of ordinary shares. Ordinary shareholders are 
entitled to all dividends declared by the Company and to all of the Company’s assets after repayment of its borrowings and ordinary creditors. 
Ordinary shareholders have the right to vote at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares carry equal voting rights.

During the year to 30 June 2025, the Company did not issue any ordinary shares (2024: nil). The Company did not repurchase any ordinary 
shares into treasury (2024: nil) or resell any ordinary shares from treasury (2024: nil). At 30 June 2025, the Company did not hold any shares in 
treasury (2024: nil).

Capital management
The Group’s capital is represented by the share capital, share premium, merger reserve, distributable reserve, hedging reserve, capital reserve, 
revenue reserve and long-term borrowings. The Group is not subject to any externally-imposed capital requirements, other than the financial 
covenants on its loan facilities as detailed in Note 13.

The capital of the Group is managed in accordance with its investment policy, in pursuit of its investment objective. 

Capital risk management
The objective of the Group is to provide ordinary shareholders with an attractive level of income together with the potential for income and 
capital growth from investing in a diversified portfolio of freehold and long leasehold care homes that are let to care home operators; and 
other healthcare assets in the UK.

The Board has responsibility for ensuring the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. This involves the ability to borrow monies in the 
short and long term; and pay dividends out of reserves, all of which are considered and approved by the Board on a regular basis.

To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, 
issue new shares or buyback shares for cancellation or for holding in treasury. The Company may also increase or decrease its level of long-
term borrowings. The Group monitors capital using the net LTV ratio, which was 21.8 per cent at 30 June 2025 (2024: 22.5 per cent). The 
Board currently intends that, over the medium term, borrowings of the Group will represent no more than approximately 30 per cent of the 
Group’s gross assets at the time of drawdown.

Where ordinary shares are held in treasury these are available to be sold to meet on-going market demand. The net proceeds of any 
subsequent sales of shares out of treasury will provide the Company with additional capital to enable it to take advantage of investment 
opportunities in the market and make further investments in accordance with the Company’s investment policy and within its appraisal criteria. 
Holding shares in treasury for this purpose assists the Company in matching its on-going capital requirements to its investment opportunities 
and therefore reduces the negative effect of holding excess cash on its balance sheet over the longer term.

No changes were made in the capital management objectives, policies or processes during the year.
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16. Financial instruments
Consistent with its objective, the Group holds UK care home property investments. In addition, the Group’s financial instruments comprise 
cash, loans and receivables and payables that arise directly from its operations. The Group’s exposure to derivative instruments consists of 
interest rate swaps and interest rate caps used to fix the interest rate on the Group’s variable rate borrowings.

The Group is exposed to various types of risk that are associated with financial instruments. The most important types are credit risk, liquidity risk, 
interest rate risk and market price risk. There is no foreign currency risk as all assets and liabilities of the Group are maintained in pounds sterling.

The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing the Group’s risk exposure. These policies are summarised below and have remained 
unchanged for the year under review. These disclosures include, where appropriate, consideration of the Group’s investment properties which, 
whilst not constituting financial instruments as defined by IFRS, are considered by the Board to be integral to the Group’s overall risk exposure.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or counterparty will be unable or unwilling to meet a commitment that it has entered into with the Group. 
At the reporting date, the Group’s financial assets exposed to credit risk amounted to £42,122,000 (2024: £41,536,000), consisting of cash of 
£39,639,000 (2024: £38,884,000), accrued development interest of £809,000 (2024: £1,076,000), net rent receivable of £1,089,000 (2024: 
£890,000) and other debtors of £585,000 (2024: £686,000).

In the event of default by a tenant if it is in financial difficulty or otherwise unable to meet its obligations under the lease, the Group will 
suffer a rental shortfall and incur additional expenses until the property is relet. These expenses could include legal and surveyor’s costs in 
re-letting, maintenance costs, insurances, rates and marketing costs and may have a material adverse impact on the financial condition and 
performance of the Group and/or the level of dividend cover. The Group may also require to provide rental incentives to the incoming tenant. 
The Board receives regular reports on concentrations of risk and any tenants in arrears. The Investment Manager monitors such reports in 
order to anticipate, and minimise the impact of, defaults by occupational tenants. The expected credit risk in relation to tenants is an inherent 
element of the due diligence considered by the Investment Manager on all property transactions with an emphasis being placed on ensuring 
that the initial rent is set at a sustainable level. The risk is further mitigated by rental deposits or guarantees where considered appropriate. The 
majority of rental income is received in advance.

As at 30 June 2025, the Group had recognised a credit loss allowance totalling £4,547,000 (2024: £2,935,000) against a gross rent receivable 
balance of £4,828,000 (2024: £3,267,000), gross loans to tenants totalling £788,000 (2024: £952,000) and other tenant debtors of £287,000 
(2024: £nil). Of the gross receivable of £4,219,000 at 30 June 2024, £638,000 was subsequently recovered and £3,581,000 is still outstanding. 
There were no other financial assets which were either past due or considered impaired at 30 June 2025 (2024: nil).

All of the Group’s cash is placed with financial institutions with a long-term credit rating of BBB or better. Bankruptcy or insolvency of such 
financial institutions may cause the Group’s ability to access cash placed on deposit to be delayed, limited or lost. Should the credit quality  
or the financial position of the banks currently employed significantly deteriorate, cash holdings would be moved to another bank.

Should the Group hold significant cash balances for an extended period, then counterparty risk will be spread, by placing cash across different 
financial institutions. At 30 June 2025 the Group held £39.4 million (2024: £37.7 million) with The Royal Bank of Scotland plc and £0.2 million 
(2024: £1.2 million) with HSBC Bank plc. Given the credit quality of the counterparties used, no credit loss allowance is recognised against 
cash balances as it is considered to be immaterial.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulties in realising assets or otherwise raising funds to meet financial commitments. 
The Group’s investments comprise UK care homes. Property and property-related assets in which the Group invests are not traded in an 
organised public market and may be illiquid. As a result, the Group may not be able to liquidate quickly its investments in these properties  
at an amount close to their fair value in order to meet its liquidity requirements.

The Group’s liquidity risk is managed on an on-going basis by the Investment Manager and monitored on a quarterly basis by the Board. In 
order to mitigate liquidity risk the Group aims to have sufficient cash balances (including the expected proceeds of any property sales) to meet 
its obligations for a period of at least twelve months.
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16. Financial instruments continued
At the reporting date, the maturity of the financial assets was:

Financial assets as at 30 June 2025

Three months
or less
£’000

More than three 
months but less 

than one year
£’000

1-2 years
£’000

2-5 years
£’000

More than 
five years

£’000
Total 

£’000

Cash and cash equivalents 39,639 – – – – 39,639
Rental deposits held in escrow for tenants – – – – 12,695 12,695
Other debtors 2,483 – – – – 2,483

Total 42,122 – – – 12,695 54,817

Financial assets as at 30 June 2024

Three months
or less
£’000

More than three 
months but less 

than one year
£’000

1-2 years
£’000

2-5 years
£’000

More than  
five years

£’000
Total 

£’000

Cash and cash equivalents 38,884 – – – – 38,884
Rental deposits held in escrow for tenants – – – – 9,893 9,893
Other debtors 4,276 – – – – 4,276

Total 43,160 – – – 9,893 53,053

At the reporting date, the contractual maturity of the financial liabilities was:

Financial liabilities as at 30 June 2025

Three months
or less
£’000

More than three 
months but less 

than one year
£’000

1-2 years
£’000

2-5 years
£’000

More than 
five years

£’000
Total 

£’000

Loans and interest rate derivatives 2,432 96,052 4,775 14,340 167,196 284,795
Rental deposits – – – – 12,695 12,695
Other payables 10,277 – – – – 10,277

Total 12,709 96,052 4,775 14,340 179,891 307,767

Financial liabilities as at 30 June 2024

Three months
or less
£’000

More than three 
months but less 

than one year
£’000

1-2 years
£’000

2-5 years
£’000

More than  
five years

£’000
Total 

£’000

Loans and interest rate derivatives 2,476 7,347 99,546 14,340 171,972 295,681
Rental deposits – – – – 9,893 9,893
Other payables 17,366 – – – – 17,366

Total 19,842 7,347 99,546 14,340 181,865 322,940

The total amount due under the loan facilities includes the expected hedged interest payments due under both the loan and interest rate 
derivatives combined (see Note 13 for further details) assuming that both the drawn element of the loans and the notional value of the interest 
rate derivatives remain unchanged from 30 June 2025 (30 June 2024) until the repayment date of the relevant loan and expiry date of the 
related interest rate derivative. The interest rate on any unhedged element of the loans is based on the rate of SONIA at 30 June 2025 (30 June 
2024) plus the relevant lending margin. The commitment fee payable on the undrawn element of any facility is included, where applicable.

Interest rate risk
Some of the Company’s financial instruments are interest-bearing. Interest-rate risk is the risk that future cash flows will change adversely as a 
result of changes in market interest rates.

The Group’s policy is to hold cash in variable rate or short-term fixed rate bank accounts. At 30 June 2025, interest was being received on cash 
at a weighted average variable rate of 1.2 per cent (2024: 1.1 per cent). Exposure varies throughout the period as a consequence of changes in 
the composition of the net assets of the Group arising out of the investment and risk management policies. These balances expose the Group to 
cash flow interest rate risk as the Group’s income and operating cash flows will be affected by movements in the market rate of interest.

At 30 June 2025, the Group had £170,000,000 (2024: £170,000,000) of committed term loans and revolving credit facilities which were 
charged interest at a rate of SONIA plus the relevant margin. At 30 June 2025, £92,000,000 of the variable rate facilities had been drawn down 
(2024: £93,000,000). The fair value of the variable rate borrowings is affected by changes in the market rate of the lending margin that would 
apply to similar loans. The variable rate borrowings are carried at amortised cost and the Group considers this to be a close approximation to 
fair value at 30 June 2025 and 30 June 2024.

At 30 June 2025, the Group had hedged its exposure on £80,000,000 of the £92,000,000 of the drawn variable rate borrowings (2024: 
£80,000,000 of the £93,000,000 of drawn variable rate facilities was hedged). On the unhedged variable rate borrowings, interest is payable 
at a variable rate equal to SONIA plus the weighted average lending margin, including the amortisation of costs, of 2.46 per cent per annum 
(2024: 2.46 per cent). The variable rate borrowings expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk as the Group’s income and operating cash 
flows will be affected by movements in the market rate of interest.
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16. Financial instruments continued
At 30 June 2025, the Group had fixed rate term loans totalling £150,000,000 (2024: £150,000,000) and had hedged its exposure to increases 
in interest rates on £80,000,000 (2024: £80,000,000) of the variable rate loans, as referred to above, through entering into a £30,000,000 
fixed rate interest rate swap and a £50,000,000 interest rate cap at 3.0 per cent. Fixing the interest rate exposes the Group to fair value 
interest rate risk as the fair value of the fixed rate borrowings, or the fair value of the interest rate derivative used to fix the interest rate on an 
otherwise variable rate loan, will be affected by movements in the market rate of interest. The £150,000,000 fixed rate term loans are carried 
at amortised cost on the Group’s balance sheet, with the estimated fair value and cost of repayment being disclosed in Note 13, whereas the 
fair value of the interest rate derivatives are recognised directly on the Group’s balance sheet. 

At 30 June 2025 the Group’s interest rate derivatives, which had a fair value of £572,000 (2024: £2,820,000) and hedged a notional value of 
£80,000,000 (2024: £80,000,000), and its fixed rate term loans of £150,000,000 (2024: £150,000,000) were exposed to fair value interest 
rate risk. At 30 June 2025, an increase of 0.25 per cent in interest rates would have increased the fair value of the interest rate derivative 
assets and increased the other comprehensive income and reported total comprehensive income for the year by £65,000 (2024: £235,000). 
The same increase in interest rates would have decreased the fair value of the fixed rate term loans by an aggregate of £2,047,000 (2024: 
£2,221,000); however, as the fixed rate loan is held at amortised cost, the reported total comprehensive income for the year would have 
remained unchanged. A decrease in interest rates would have had an approximately equal and opposite effect. 

Further details on the Group’s borrowings are detailed in Note 13 and changes subsequent to the year end are detailed in Note 20.

The following table sets out the carrying amount of the Group’s financial instruments that are exposed to cash flow interest rate risk:

As at 30 June 2025 As at 30 June 2024

Fixed rate
£’000

Variable rate
£’000

Fixed rate
£’000

Variable rate
£’000

Cash and cash equivalents – 39,639 – 38,884
Interest rate derivatives 572 – 2,820 –
Loans (230,000) (12,000) (230,000) (13,000)

(229,428) 27,639 (227,180) 25,884

Based on the Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk, an increase of 0.25 per cent in interest rates would have increased the reported profit 
for the year and the net assets at the year end by £69,000 (2024: £65,000), a decrease in interest rates would have an equal and opposite effect. 
These movements are calculated based on balances as at 30 June 2025 (30 June 2024) and may not be reflective of actual future conditions.

Market price risk
The management of market price risk is part of the investment management process and is typical of a property investment company. The portfolio 
is managed with an awareness of the effects of adverse valuation movements through detailed and continuing analysis, with an objective of 
maximising overall returns to shareholders. Investments in property and property-related assets are inherently difficult to value due to the individual 
nature of each property. As a result, valuations are subject to substantial uncertainty. There is no assurance that the estimates resulting from the 
valuation process will reflect the actual sales price even where such sales occur shortly after the valuation date. Such risk is minimised through the 
appointment of external property valuers. The basis of valuation of the property portfolio is set out in detail in the accounting policies and Note 9.

As set out in Note 9, the external valuers are mindful of the potential impacts ESG may have on capital and rental valuations. Currently in the UK, 
demands for more precise and rigorous valuation of sustainability features have grown; however, there is still a gap in the exact knowledge of how 
to value sustainability features to appropriately reflect a ‘green premium’ or ‘brown discount’. Sentiment is shifting towards a focus on energy use, 
ensuring buildings meet environmental energy efficiency standards, with regulation being tightened to meet the UK government’s ‘net zero carbon’ 
target. The more stringent Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards’ regulations will require landlords, especially those whose properties do not meet 
the Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards’ regulations, to invest further in their properties. In addition, the UK’s introduction of mandatory climate 
related disclosures and the European Union’s Sustainable Finance Disclosure Regulations may impact on asset values, or how the market views 
risks and incorporates them into the sale or letting of assets. There is also the potential that future legislative change, such as an update to the 
Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards or the introduction of an operational rating, may impact future property valuations.

Any changes in market conditions will directly affect the profit and loss reported through the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Details of 
the Group’s investment property portfolio held at the balance sheet date are disclosed in Note 9. A 10 per cent increase in the carrying value of 
the investment properties as at 30 June 2025 (30 June 2024) would have increased net assets available to shareholders and increased the net 
income for the year by £84,043,000 (2024: £83,157,000); an equal and opposite movement would have decreased net assets and decreased 
the net income by an equivalent amount.

The calculations are based on the investment property valuations at the respective balance sheet date and may not be reflective of future 
market conditions.
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17. Lease length
The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio. These properties, held under operating leases, 
are measured under the fair value model as the properties are held to earn rentals. All leases are non-cancellable leases with lease terms 
remaining of between 15 and 35 years (2024: between 16 and 35 years).

The minimum lease payments based on the unexpired lessor lease length at the year-end were as follows (based on annual rentals):

As at
30 June 2025

£’000

As at
30 June 2024

£’000

Less than one year 61,162 59,001
Between one and two years 62,547 60,180
Between two and three years 63,529 61,126
Between three and four years 64,528 62,087
Between four and five years 65,545 63,066
Over five years 1,638,302 1,623,709

Total 1,955,613 1,929,169

The largest single tenant at the year-end accounted for 16.0 per cent (2024: 16.1 per cent) of the current annual rental income. There were no 
unoccupied properties at the year-end (2024: none).

18. Contingent assets and liabilities
As at 30 June 2025, one property (2024: three properties) within the Group’s investment property portfolio contained a performance payment 
clause which provided that, subject to contracted performance conditions being met, a further capital payment of £1,785,000 (2024: £3,695,000) 
may be payable by the Group to the vendor/tenant of the property. The potential timing of this payment is also conditional on the date(s) at 
which the contracted performance conditions are met and is therefore uncertain.

It is highlighted that any performance payments subsequently paid will result in an increase in the rental income due from the tenant of the 
relevant property. As the net initial yield used to calculate the additional rental which would be payable is not significantly different from 
the investment yield used to arrive at the valuation of the properties, any performance payment made would be expected to result in a 
commensurate increase in the value of the Group’s investment property portfolio.

As at 30 June 2024, performance conditions had been met in relation to two properties and therefore £1,910,000 had been recognised as 
a liability at that date (see Note 14). An equal but opposite amount had been recognised as an asset in ‘investment properties’ (see Note 9) to 
reflect the increase in the investment property value that would have been expected to arise from the payment of the performance payment(s) 
and the resulting increase in the contracted rental income. These performance payments of £1,910,000 were subsequently paid and rentalised 
during the year ended 30 June 2025. In relation to the one property performance clause referred to above which remained outstanding at 
30 June 2025, the Group determined that the contracted performance conditions had not been met at the balance sheet date. 

19. Capital commitments
The Group had capital commitments as follows:

30 June 2025
£’000

30 June 2024
£’000

Amounts due to complete forward fund developments 912 4,723
Other capital expenditure commitments 1,113 394

Total 2,025 5,117

 

20. Post balance sheet events
On 23 September 2025, the Group entered into a £20,000,000 committed term loan and £30,000,000 revolving credit facility with RBS which 
is repayable in September 2028, with the option of two one-year extensions thereafter subject to the consent of RBS. The facility also includes 
an accordion option that, subject to the consent of RBS, would increase the total quantum of the facility to £80,000,000. Interest accrues on 
the drawn element of the bank loan at a variable rate, based on SONIA plus margin and mandatory lending costs, and is payable quarterly. The 
margin on the facility is 1.50 per cent per annum for the duration of the loan. A non-utilisation fee of 0.75 per cent per annum is payable on 
any undrawn element of the facility. As at 13 October 2025, the Group has drawn £47,575,000 under this facility. The Group has entered into  
a five year swap which fixes the interest rate on the £20,000,000 term loan, including the margin, at 5.26 per cent per annum.

On 23 September 2025, the Group entered into a £30,000,000 committed term loan and £50,000,000 revolving credit facility with HSBC which 
is repayable in September 2028, with the option of two one-year extensions thereafter subject to the consent of HSBC. The facility also includes 
an accordion option that, subject to the consent of HSBC, would increase the total quantum of the facility to £120,000,000. Interest accrues  
on the drawn element of the bank loan at a variable rate, based on SONIA plus margin and mandatory lending costs, and is payable quarterly. 
The margin on the facility is 1.50 per cent per annum for the duration of the loan. A non-utilisation fee of 0.60 per cent per annum is payable 
on any undrawn element of the facility. As at 13 October 2025, the Group has drawn £50,000,000 under this facility. The Group has entered 
into a five year interest rate swap which fixes the interest rate on the £30,000,000 term loan, including the margin, at 5.32 per cent per annum.

On 24 September 2025, the Group exchanged contracts in relation to the disposal of nine care homes for proceeds of £85.9 million. This 
represents a premium of 11.6 per cent to the aggregate holding value of the properties as at 30 June 2025, and an implied net initial yield  
of 5.24 per cent. The transaction is unconditional and is expected to complete on 22 October 2025.

With effect from 21 August 2025, the Group has an agreement to dispose of a further property for £8.0 million, a premium of c.13 per cent  
to its holding value at 30 June 2025. This disposal is expected to complete in November 2025.
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21. Related parties and transactions with the Investment Manager
The Board of Directors is considered to be a related party. No Director has an interest in any transactions which are, or were, unusual in  
their nature or significant to the nature of the Group. The Directors of the Group received fees for their services. Total fees for the year  
were £227,000 (2024: £227,000) of which £nil (2024: £nil) remained payable at the year-end.

The Investment Manager received £7,816,000 (inclusive of irrecoverable VAT) in management fees in relation to the year ended 30 June 2025  
(2024: £7,518,000). Of this amount £1,979,000 (2024: £1,927,000) remained payable at the year-end. The Investment Manager received 
a further £193,000 (inclusive of irrecoverable VAT) during the year ended 30 June 2025 (2024: £187,000) in relation to its appointment as 
Company Secretary and Administrator, of which £48,000 (2024: £47,000) remained payable at the year end. Certain employees of the 
Investment Manager are directors of some of the Group’s subsidiaries. Neither they nor the Investment Manager receive any additional 
remuneration in relation to fulfilling this role.

There were related party transactions within the Group and its wholly-owned subsidiaries which are eliminated upon consolidation.

22. Operating segments
The Board has considered the requirements of IFRS 8 ‘Operating Segments’. The Board is of the view that the Group is engaged in a single 
segment of business, being property investment, and in one geographical area, the United Kingdom, and that therefore the Group has only 
a single operating segment. The Board of Directors, as a whole, has been identified as constituting the chief operating decision maker of the 
Group. The key measure of performance used by the Board to assess the Group’s performance is the EPRA NTA. The reconciliation between 
the NAV, as calculated under IFRS, and the EPRA NTA is detailed in Note 8.

The view that the Group is engaged in a single segment of business is based on the following considerations:
•	 One of the key financial indicators received and reviewed by the Board is the total return from the property portfolio taken as a whole;
•	 There is no active allocation of resources to particular types or groups of properties in order to try to match the asset allocation of the 

benchmark; and
•	 The management of the portfolio is ultimately delegated to a single property manager, Target.

23. Alternative Investment Fund Managers (‘AIFM’) Directive
With effect from 22 July 2014, the Company’s Investment Manager was authorised as an AIFM by the FCA under the AIFMD regulations.  
In accordance with the AIFM Directive, information in relation to the Group’s leverage and the remuneration of the Company’s AIFM, 
Target Fund Managers Limited, is required to be made available to investors. The Manager has provided disclosures on its website, 
www.targetfundmanagers.com, incorporating the requirements of the AIFMD regulations regarding remuneration.

The Group’s maximum and average actual leverage levels are shown below:

30 June 2025 30 June 2024

Leverage exposure
Gross 

method
Commitment

method
Gross 

method
Commitment

method

Maximum limit 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00
Actual 1.76 1.81 1.79 1.85

For the purposes of the AIFM Directive, leverage is any method which increases the Group’s exposure, including the borrowing of cash and 
the use of derivatives. It is expressed as a percentage of the Group’s exposure to its net asset value and is calculated on both a gross and 
commitment method.

Under the gross method, exposure represents the sum of the Group’s positions after deduction of cash balances, without taking account of 
any hedging or netting arrangements. Under the commitment method, exposure is calculated without the deduction of cash balances and 
after certain hedging and netting positions are offset against each other. Both methods include the Group’s interest rate derivatives measured 
at notional value.

The leverage limits are set by the AIFM and approved by the Board and are in line with the maximum leverage levels permitted in the Company’s 
Articles of Association. The AIFM is also required to comply with the gearing parameters set by the Board in relation to borrowings.

Detailed regulatory disclosures to investors in accordance with the AIFM Directive are contained in the Investor Disclosure Document which is 
made available on the Group’s website at www.targethealthcarereit.co.uk.
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Company Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2025

Notes

As at 
30 June 2025

£’000

As at 
30 June 2024

£’000

Non-current assets
Investment in subsidiary undertakings 3 801,714 791,304
Investment properties 4 8,608 8,450
Trade and other receivables 5 387 287

810,709 800,041
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 5 1,125 2,641
Cash and cash equivalents 6 311 753

1,436 3,394

Total assets 812,145 803,435

Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 7 (135) (117)

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 7 (71,622) (84,245)

Total liabilities (71,757) (84,362)

Net assets 740,388 719,073

Share capital and reserves
Share capital 8 6,202 6,202
Share premium 256,633 256,633
Merger reserve 47,751 47,751
Distributable reserve 222,080 231,896
Capital reserve 153,013 150,179
Revenue reserve 54,709 26,412

Equity shareholders’ funds 740,388 719,073

Net asset value per ordinary share (pence) 9 119.4 115.9

Company number: 11990238 

The Company made a profit for the year ended 30 June 2025 of £57,543,000 (2024: £59,847,000).

The financial statements on pages 88 to 97 were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 13 October 2025  
and were signed on its behalf by:

Alison Fyfe
Chair

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Company Financial Statements
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Company Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2025

Note

Share
capital
£’000

Share
premium 

£’000

Merger
reserve

£’000

Distributable
reserve

£’000

Capital 
reserve

£’000

Revenue 
reserve 

£’000
Total

£’000

At 30 June 2024 6,202 256,633 47,751 231,896 150,179 26,412 719,073

Profit for the year – – – – 2,834 54,709 57,543
Transactions with owners recognised in equity:
Dividends paid 2 – – – (9,816) – (26,412) (36,228)

At 30 June 2025 6,202 256,633 47,751 222,080 153,013 54,709 740,388

For the year ended 30 June 2024

Note

Share
capital
£’000

Share
premium 

£’000

Merger
reserve

£’000

Distributable
reserve

£’000

Capital 
reserve

£’000

Revenue 
reserve 

£’000
Total

£’000

At 30 June 2023 6,202 256,633 47,751 249,436 93,334 41,124 694,480

Profit for the year – – – – 56,845 3,002 59,847
Transactions with owners recognised in equity:
Dividends paid 2 – – – (17,540) – (17,714) (35,254)

At 30 June 2024 6,202 256,633 47,751 231,896 150,179 26,412 719,073

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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1. Accounting policies
(a)	Basis of preparation
A summary of the principal accounting policies, all of which have been applied consistently throughout the year, is set out below.

Basis of accounting
The Company Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with FRS 101: Reduced Disclosure Framework and applicable legal and 
regulatory requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

Where presentational guidance set out in the Statement of Recommended Practice (‘SORP’) for investment trust companies issued by the 
Association of Investment Companies (‘AIC’) in July 2022 is consistent with the requirements of FRS 101, the Directors have sought to prepare 
the financial statements on a basis compliant with the recommendations of the SORP.

The notes and financial statements are presented in pounds sterling (being the functional currency and presentation currency for the 
Company) and are rounded to the nearest thousand except where otherwise indicated.

The results of the Company have been included in the Consolidated Financial Statements as presented on pages 66 to 87. The accounting 
policies adopted are consistent with those adopted by the Group as stated in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The only 
additional policies applied are in relation to investments in subsidiary undertakings and dividends received and these are set out below.

The Company has taken advantage of the following exemptions permitted under FRS 101:
•	 an exemption from preparing the Company cash flow statement and related notes;
•	 an exemption from listing any new or revised standards that have not been adopted or providing information about their likely impact; and
•	 an exemption from disclosing transactions between the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries.

Going concern
In assessing the going concern basis of accounting the Directors have had regard to the guidance issued by the Financial Reporting Council.
After making enquiries, and bearing in mind the nature of the Group’s business and assets, the Directors consider that the Group has adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence to 31 December 2026 which is at least twelve months from the date of issuance of this report. 
For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2025.

Further explanation of the assessment undertaken is provided in the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 71.

Investments in subsidiary undertakings
Investments in subsidiary undertakings are stated at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Investments in subsidiaries
are initially recognised at fair value at the date at which control is acquired, with subsequent gains or losses arising from changes in fair value 
being recognised in net profit or loss for the period as a capital item and transferred to the Capital Reserve. Investments in subsidiaries are 
derecognised at the date on which the Company transfers control and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to another party.

Dividends received
Dividends received are recognised on the date on which entitlement to receive payment is established. Where dividends are received by way 
of an in-specie transfer of assets from a subsidiary undertaking, the dividend is recognised at the fair value of the assets received through profit 
or loss as a capital item and transferred to the Capital Reserve.

Company Profit for the financial year
Under Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the Company is exempt from the requirement to present its own profit and loss account. 
The profit after tax for the year was £57,543,000 (2024: £59,847,000).

The Company does not have any employees (2024: nil). Details of the Directors’ fees paid during the year are disclosed in the Group’s 
Remuneration Report and in Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The Company has paid the Directors’ fees which equated to 
£227,000 during the year ended 30 June 2025 (2024: £227,000).

Audit fees in relation to the parent company were £170,000 (2024: £183,000), including irrecoverable VAT. This included £3,000 payable by 
the Company on behalf of certain subsidiaries (2024: £2,000) and £nil relating to additional audit work undertaken in relation to the prior year 
financial statements (2024: £18,000). The fee for assurance related services, being the review of the Company’s Interim Report, was £17,000 
(2024: £16,000). There were no other non-audit fees paid to EY by the Company during the year (2024: £nil).
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2. Dividends
Amounts paid as distributions to equity holders.

Dividend rate 
(pence per 

share) 

Year ended 
30 June 2025 

£’000

Dividend rate 
(pence per 

share) 

Year ended 
30 June 2024 

£’000

Fourth interim dividend for the prior year 1.428 8,857 1.400 8,683
First interim dividend 1.471 9,123 1.428 8,857
Second interim dividend 1.471 9,124 1.428 8,857
Third interim dividend 1.471 9,124 1.428 8,857

Total 5.841 36,228 5.684 35,254

It is the policy of the Directors to declare and pay dividends as interim dividends. The Directors do not therefore recommend a final dividend. 
The fourth interim dividend in respect of the year ended 30 June 2025, of 1.471 pence per share, was paid on 29 August 2025 to shareholders 
on the register on 15 August 2025 and amounted to £9,124,000. It is the intention of the Directors that the Company will continue to pay 
dividends quarterly.

3. Investments in subsidiary undertakings
As at 30 June 2025, the Company’s directly held subsidiary undertakings were:

Name
Country of 

incorporation
Class of
Capital

% of class 
held

% of equity
held

Book Cost
£’000

Fair Value
£’000

Target Healthcare REIT Limited Jersey Ordinary 100 100 432,841 430,723
THR Number 12 plc England & Wales Ordinary 100 100 103,336 155,963
THR Number 37 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100 7,521 9,123
THR Number 39 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100 14,635 14,332
THR Number 40 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100 13,696 13,795
THR Number 41 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100 14,086 11,341
THR Number 42 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100 14,903 14,557
THR Number 43 plc England & Wales Ordinary 100 100 94,861 121,414
THR Number 44 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100 – (81)
THR Number 45 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100 14,858 15,001
THR Number 46 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100 8,591 8,295
THR Number 47 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100 6,197 7,251

Total 725,525 801,714

The registered office of the companies incorporated in England & Wales is: Level 4 Dashwood House, 69 Old Broad Street, London EC2M 1QS.

The registered office of Target Healthcare REIT Limited is: 3rd Floor, 44 Esplanade, St Helier, Jersey JE4 9WG.

The movement in the fair value of the Company’s investments in subsidiary undertakings during the year was:

Year ended
30 June 2025

£’000

Year ended
30 June 2024

£’000

Opening fair value 791,304 699,223
Additions 7,816 35,427
Movement in fair value 2,594 56,654

Closing fair value 801,714 791,304

The Company’s investments in subsidiary undertakings are classified within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. See Note 9 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements for the definitions of the levels of the fair value hierarchy.

The fair value of the Company’s subsidiaries is primarily dependent on the fair value of the properties and loans that they hold. See Notes 9,  
13 and 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for an explanation of the Group’s valuation processes, the significant inputs, and the 
sensitivities of the fair value of these assets and liabilities to these significant inputs.
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3. Investments in subsidiary undertakings continued

As at 30 June 2025, the Company’s indirectly held subsidiary undertakings were:

Name Country of incorporation Class of Capital % of class held % of equity held

THR Number One plc England & Wales Ordinary 100 100
THR Number Two Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100
THR Number 3 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100
THR Number 4 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100
THR Number 5 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100
THR Number 6 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100
THR Number 7 Limited Gibraltar Ordinary 100 100
THR Number 8 Limited Gibraltar Ordinary 100 100
THR Number 9 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100
THR Number 10 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100
THR Number 11 Limited Scotland Ordinary 100 100
THR Number 13 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100
THR Number 14 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100
THR Number 15 plc England & Wales Ordinary 100 100
THR Number 16 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100
THR Number 17 (Holdings) Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100
THR Number 17 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100
THR Number 18 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100
THR Number 19 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100
THR Number 20 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100
THR Number 21 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100
THR Number 22 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100
THR Number 23 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100
THR Number 24 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100
THR Number 25 S.à r.l. Luxembourg Ordinary 100 100
THR Number 26 S.à r.l. Luxembourg Ordinary 100 100
THR Number 27 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100
THR Number 28 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100
THR Number 29 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100
THR Number 30 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100
THR Number 31 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100
THR Number 32 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100
THR Number 33 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100
THR Number 34 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100
THR Number 35 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100
THR Number 36 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100
THR Number 38 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100
THR Number 48 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 100

The registered office of the companies incorporated in England & Wales is: Level 4 Dashwood House, 69 Old Broad Street, London EC2M 1QS. 

The registered office of the companies incorporated in Luxembourg is: 25A Boulevard Royal, L – 2449, Luxembourg.

The registered office of the companies incorporated in Gibraltar is: Suite 23, Portland House, Glacis Road, GX11 1AA, Gibraltar. 

The registered office of the company incorporated in Scotland is: Glendevon House, Castle Business Park, Stirling FK9 4TZ.
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4. Investment properties

Freehold property

As at
30 June 2025

£’000

As at
30 June 2024

£’000

Opening market value 7,710 7,520
Opening fixed or guaranteed rent reviews (170) (87)
Opening performance payment (see Note 12) 910 –

Opening carrying value 8,450 7,433

Purchases 910 –
Revaluation movement – gain/(loss) 240 190

Movement in market value 1,150 190
Movement in fixed or guaranteed rent reviews (82) (83)
Movement in performance payment (see Note 12) (910) 910

Movement in carrying value 158 1,017

Closing market value 8,860 7,710

Closing fixed or guaranteed rent reviews (252) (170)
Closing performance payment (see Note 12) – 910

Closing carrying value 8,608 8,450

At 30 June 2025, the property was valued at £8,860,000 (2024: £7,710,000) by CBRE Limited (‘CBRE’) in their capacity as external valuers.  
The valuation was undertaken in accordance with the RICS Valuation Global Standards, issued by the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors 
(‘RICS’) on the basis of Market Value, supported by reference to market evidence of transaction prices for similar properties. CBRE has recent 
experience in the location and category of the investment properties being valued. 

Market Value represents the estimated amount for which an asset or liability should exchange on the valuation date between a willing buyer 
and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction, after proper marketing where the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and 
without compulsion. The quarterly property valuation is reviewed by the Board at each Board meeting. The fair value of the property after 
adjusting for the movement in the fixed or guaranteed rent reviews and performance payment was £8,608,000 (2024: £8,450,000). The 
adjustment consisted of £252,000 (2024: £170,000) relating to fixed or guaranteed rent reviews, which is separately recorded in the accounts 
as a non-current asset within ‘trade and other receivables’ (see Note 5). An adjustment is also made to reflect the amount by which the 
portfolio value is expected to increase if the performance payment recognised in ‘trade and other payables’ is paid and the passing rent at the 
property increased accordingly (see Notes 7 and 12). The total purchases in the year to 30 June 2025, inclusive of any performance payment 
recognised in the year and/or exclusive of that recognised in a prior year, were £nil (2024: £910,000).

Considering the Company’s specific valuation process, industry guidance, and the level of judgement required in the valuation process, the 
Directors believe it appropriate to classify the Company’s investment property within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. See Note 9 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements for further details on the valuation process, methodology and classification.

The Company’s investment property portfolio, which consisted of a single care home, is considered to be a single class of assets. The weighted 
average net initial yield on the property, as measured by the EPRA topped up NIY, is 5.8 per cent (2024: 5.8 per cent). There have been no 
changes to the valuation technique used through the period, nor have there been any transfers between levels. The annual contracted rent 
per bed is £8,235 (2024: £7,160).

The lease agreement on the property held by the Company allows for an annual increase in the contracted rental level in line with inflation, 
within a cap and a collar. An increase of 1.0 per cent in the contracted rental level will increase the fair value of the property, and consequently 
the Company’s reported income from unrealised gains on investments, by £89,000 (2024: £77,000); an equal and opposite movement would 
have decreased net assets and reduced the Company’s income by the same amount.

A decrease of 0.25 per cent in the yield applied to the property will increase the fair value of the property by £402,000 (2024: £350,000), and 
consequently increase the Company’s reported income from unrealised gains on investments. An increase of 0.25 per cent in the net initial 
yield will decrease the fair value of the property by £369,000 (2024: £321,000) and reduce the Company’s income.
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5. Trade and other receivables

Non-current trade and other receivables

As at 
30 June 2025

£’000

As at 
30 June 2024

£’000

Fixed rent reviews 252 170
Rental deposits held in escrow for tenants 135 117

Total 387 287

Current trade and other receivables

As at 
30 June 2025

£’000

As at 
30 June 2024

£’000

Balances due from group undertakings 1,003 2,462
Other debtors and prepayments 122 179

Total 1,125 2,641

At the year-end, trade and other receivables include a fixed rent review debtor of £252,000 (2024: £170,000) which represents the effect of 
recognising guaranteed rental uplifts on a straight line basis over the lease term.

The balances due from group undertakings are unsecured and interest is receivable at a fixed rate of 5.7 per cent (2024: 6.7 per cent) per 
annum or such other interest rate that may be agreed from time to time between the Company and the relevant counterparty. The balances  
are repayable on demand.

6. Cash and cash equivalents
As at 

30 June 2025
£’000

As at 
30 June 2024

£’000

Cash at bank and in hand 311 753

Total 311 753

All cash balances at the year-end were held in cash, current accounts or deposit accounts.

7. Trade and other payables

Non-current trade and other payables

As at 
30 June 2025

£’000

As at 
30 June 2024

£’000

Rental deposits 135 117

Total 135 117

Current trade and other payables

As at 
30 June 2025

£’000

As at 
30 June 2024

£’000

Balances due to group undertakings 69,494 81,248
Income tax payable 1,046 932
Investment Manager’s fees payable 171 104
Rental income received in advance 126 109
Performance payments – 910
Other payables 785 942

Total 71,622 84,245

The balances due to group undertakings are unsecured and interest is payable at a fixed rate of 5.7 per cent (2024: 6.7 per cent) per annum or 
such other interest rate that may be agreed from time to time between the Company and the relevant counterparty. The balances are repayable 
on demand.

The Group’s payment policy is to ensure settlement of supplier invoices in accordance with stated terms.
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8. Share capital

Allotted, called-up and fully paid ordinary shares of £0.01 each
Number of 

shares £’000

Balance as at 30 June 2024 and 30 June 2025 620,237,346 6,202

Under the Company’s Articles of Association, the Company may issue an unlimited number of ordinary shares. Ordinary shareholders are 
entitled to all dividends declared by the Company and to all of the Company’s assets after repayment of its borrowings and ordinary creditors. 
Ordinary shareholders have the right to vote at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares carry equal voting rights.

During the year to 30 June 2025, the Company did not issue any ordinary shares (2024: nil). The Company did not repurchase any ordinary 
shares into treasury (2024: nil) or resell any ordinary shares from treasury (2024: nil). At 30 June 2025, the Company did not hold any shares  
in treasury (2024: nil).

Capital Management
The Company’s capital is represented by the share capital, share premium, merger reserve, distributable reserve, capital reserve and revenue 
reserve and is managed in line with the policies set out for the Group on page 82.

9. Net Asset Value
The Company’s net asset value per ordinary share of 119.4 pence (2024: 115.9 pence) is based on equity shareholders’ funds of £740,388,000 
(2024: £719,073,000) and on 620,237,346 (2024: 620,237,346) ordinary shares, being the number of shares in issue at the year end.

10. Financial instruments
Consistent with its objective, the Company holds an investment in a UK care home property. In addition, the Company’s financial instruments 
comprise investments in subsidiaries, cash and receivables and payables that arise directly from its operations. The Company has no direct 
exposure to derivative instruments.

The Company is exposed to various types of risk that are associated with financial instruments. The most important types are credit risk, 
liquidity risk, interest rate risk and market price risk. There is no foreign currency risk as all assets and liabilities of the Company are maintained 
in pounds sterling.

The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing the Group’s overall risk exposure. These policies are summarised in Note 16 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements and have remained unchanged for the year under review. The following disclosures include, where 
appropriate, consideration of the Company’s investment property which, whilst not constituting a financial instrument as defined by FRS 101, 
is considered by the Board to be integral to the Company’s overall risk exposure.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or counterparty will be unable or unwilling to meet a commitment that it has entered into with the Company. 
At the reporting date, the Company’s financial assets exposed to credit risk amounted to £1,323,000 (2024: £3,226,000) consisting of balances 
due from group undertakings of £1,003,000 (2024: £2,462,000), cash balances of £311,000 (2024: £753,000) and other debtors of £9,000 
(2024: £11,000).

There have been no historical losses from intercompany loans and any resulting provision from the estimated credit loss allowance is considered 
to be immaterial. The Company has no financial assets which were either past due or considered impaired at 30 June 2025 (2024: nil).

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulties in realising assets or otherwise raising funds to meet financial commitments. 
The Company’s investments comprise UK care homes and holdings in subsidiary undertakings which, in turn, invest in UK care homes. Property 
and property-related assets in which the Company invests are not traded in an organised public market and may be illiquid. As a result, the 
Company may not be able to liquidate quickly its investments in these properties or subsidiary undertakings at an amount close to their fair 
value in order to meet its liquidity requirements.

At the reporting date, the maturity of the financial assets was:

Financial assets as at 30 June 2025

Three months
or less
£’000

More than three 
months but less 

than one year
£’000

1-2 years
£’000

2-5 years
£’000

More than 
five years

£’000
Total

£’000

Cash and cash equivalents 311 – – – – 311
Rental deposits held in escrow for tenants – – – – 135 135
Balances due from group undertakings 1,003 – – – – 1,003
Other debtors 9 – – – – 9

Total 1,323 – – – 135 1,458
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10. Financial instruments continued

Financial assets as at 30 June 2024

Three months
or less
£’000

More than three 
months but less 

than one year
£’000

1-2 years
£’000

2-5 years
£’000

More than 
five years

£’000
Total

£’000

Cash and cash equivalents 753 – – – – 753
Rental deposits held in escrow for tenants – – – – 117 117
Balances due from Group undertakings 2,462 – – – – 2,462
Other debtors 11 – – – – 11

Total 3,226 – – – 117 3,343

At the reporting date, the contractual maturity of the financial liabilities was:

Financial liabilities as at 30 June 2025

Three months
or less
£’000

More than three 
months but less 

than one year
£’000

1-2 years
£’000

2-5 years
£’000

More than 
five years

£’000
Total

£’000

Rental deposits – – – – 135 135
Balances due to group undertakings 69,494 – – – – 69,494
Other payables 2,002 – – – – 2,002

Total 71,496 – – – 135 71,631

Financial liabilities as at 30 June 2024

Three months
or less
£’000

More than three 
months but less 

than one year
£’000

1-2 years
£’000

2-5 years
£’000

More than 
five years

£’000
Total

£’000

Rental deposits – – – – 117 117
Balances due to group undertakings 81,248 – – – – 81,248
Other payables 2,888 – – – – 2,888

Total 84,136 – – – 117 84,253

Interest rate risk
Some of the Company’s financial instruments are interest-bearing. Interest-rate risk is the risk that future cash flows will change adversely as a 
result of changes in market interest rates. The Company’s policy is to hold cash in variable rate or short-term fixed rate bank accounts. Interest 
is received on cash at a weighted average variable rate which was nil at 30 June 2025 (2024: nil). 

The following table sets out the carrying amount of the Company’s financial instruments that are exposed to cash flow interest rate risk:

As at 30 June 2025 As at 30 June 2024

Fixed rate
£’000

Variable rate
£’000

Fixed rate
£’000

Variable rate
£’000

Cash and cash equivalents – 311 – 753
Balances due from group undertakings 1,003 – 2,462 –
Balances due to group undertakings (69,494) – (81,248) –

Total (68,491) 311 (78,786) 753

Based on the Company’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk, an increase of 0.25 per cent in interest rates would have increased the 
reported profit for the year and the net assets at the year end by £1,000 (2024: £2,000), a decrease in interest rates would have an equal and 
opposite effect. These movements are calculated based on balances as at 30 June 2025 (30 June 2024) and may not be reflective of actual 
future conditions.

Market price risk
The management of market price risk is part of the investment management process and is typical of a property investment company.  
The portfolio is managed with an awareness of the effects of adverse valuation movements through detailed and continuing analysis, with  
an objective of maximising overall returns to shareholders. Investments in property and property-related assets are inherently difficult to value 
due to the individual nature of each property. As a result, valuations are subject to substantial uncertainty. There is no assurance that the 
estimates resulting from the valuation process will reflect the actual sales price even where such sales occur shortly after the valuation date. 
Such risk is minimised through the appointment of external property valuers. The Company’s subsidiaries are held at fair value which, in turn, 
reflects the external valuations of the underlying properties they hold. The Company’s overall market price risk is therefore the same as that 
for the Group as set out in Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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11. Lease length
The Company leases out its investment properties under operating leases.

The minimum lease payments based on the unexpired lessor lease length at the year-end were as follows (based on annual rentals):

As at
30 June 2025 

£’000

As at
30 June 2024 

£’000

Less than one year 544 473
Between one and two years 549 478

Between two and three years 555 482
Between three and four years 560 487
Between four and five years 566 492
Over five years 17,577 15,934

Total 20,351 18,346

The largest single tenant at the year-end accounted for 100 per cent (2024: 100 per cent) of the current annual rental income. There were no 
unoccupied properties at the year-end. 

The Company has entered into a commercial property lease on its investment property. This property, held under an operating lease, is 
measured under the fair value model as the property is held to earn rentals. The lease is a non-cancellable lease with a lease term remaining 
of 32 years (2024: 33 years).

12. Contingent assets and liabilities
As at 30 June 2024, the Company’s investment property contained a performance payment clause meaning that, subject to contracted 
performance conditions being met, a further capital payment totalling £910,000 may have been payable by the Company to the vendor/
tenant of this property. The potential timing of this payment was also conditional on the date(s) at which the contracted performance 
conditions were met and was therefore uncertain. 

Having assessed the clause, the Group had determined that the contracted performance conditions in relation to the property were highly 
likely to have been met at 30 June 2024 and therefore an amount of £910,000 had been recognised as a liability (see Note 7). An equal but 
opposite amount had been recognised as an asset in ‘investment properties’ (see Note 4). This reflect the increase in the investment property 
value that would have been expected to arise from the payment of the performance payment and the resulting increase in the contracted 
rental income.

The performance payment of £910,000 was paid during the year ended 30 June 2025 (see Note 4). There are no performance payment 
clauses remaining outstanding at 30 June 2025.

13. Related party transactions
The Board of Directors is considered to be a related party. No Director has an interest in any transactions which are, or were, unusual in their 
nature or significant to the nature of the Company.

The Directors of the Company received fees for their services. Total fees paid by the Company in relation to the year were £227,000  
(2024: £227,000) of which £nil (2024: £nil) remained payable at the year-end. 

The Investment Manager received management fees of £632,000 (inclusive of irrecoverable VAT) from the Company in relation to the year 
ended 30 June 2025 (2024: £527,000). Of this amount £171,000 (2024: £104,000) remained payable at the year-end.

The Investment Manager received a further £193,000 (inclusive of irrecoverable VAT) during the year ended 30 June 2025 (2024: £187,000) in 
relation to its appointment as Company Secretary and Administrator. Of this amount £48,000 (2024: £47,000) remained payable at the year-end.



Target Healthcare REIT plc 

98
Notice of Annual General Meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the seventh Annual General Meeting (‘AGM’) of Target Healthcare REIT plc (the ‘Company’) will be held on  
Thursday 4 December 2025 at 4.00 p.m. at the offices of Dickson Minto LLP, Level 4, Dashwood House, 69 Old Broad Street, London EC2M 1QS 
for the purposes of considering and, if thought fit, passing the following resolutions, of which resolutions 1 to 13 inclusive will be proposed as 
ordinary resolutions and resolutions 14 to 16 inclusive will be proposed as special resolutions:

Ordinary resolutions
1.	 That the Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 30 June 2025 be received.
2.	 That the Directors’ Remuneration Policy be approved.
3.	 That the Directors’ Annual Report on Remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2025 be approved.
4.	 That the maximum limit on aggregate Directors’ fees be increased to £350,000.
5.	 That the Company’s dividend policy be approved.
6.	 That Ernst & Young LLP be re-appointed as the Company’s Auditor until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting.
7.	 That the Directors be authorised to determine the Auditor’s remuneration.
8.	 To re-elect Michael Brodtman as a Director.
9.	 To re-elect Richard Cotton as a Director. 
10.	To re-elect Alison Fyfe as a Director.
11.	To re-elect Vince Niblett as a Director.
12.	To re-elect Amanda Thompsell as a Director.
13.	That, in addition to any existing authority, in accordance with section 551 of the Companies Act 2006, the Directors be generally and unconditionally 

authorised to exercise all powers of the Company to allot ordinary shares of £0.01 each (or of such other nominal value as the Directors may 
resolve) in the capital of the Company and to grant rights to subscribe for or to convert any security into shares in the Company (‘Securities’) 
up to an aggregate nominal amount of £620,237 (being approximately 10% of the Company’s issued share capital immediately prior to the passing 
of this resolution), provided that this authority shall, unless renewed, varied or revoked by the Company, expire at the conclusion of the next Annual 
General Meeting of the Company or on 15 months from the passing of this resolution, whichever is the earlier, save that the Company may, before 
such expiry, make offers or enter into agreements which would or might require shares to be allotted or Securities to be granted and the Directors 
may allot shares or grant Securities in pursuance of such offer or agreement as if the authority conferred by this resolution had not expired.

Special resolutions
14.	That, in addition to any existing authority and subject to the passing of resolution 13, the Directors be given the general power, pursuant  

to section 570 of the Companies Act 2006 (the ‘Act’), to allot equity securities (as defined in section 560 of the Act) for cash pursuant to  
the authority under section 551 of the Act either conferred by resolution 13 or by way of a sale of treasury shares as if section 561 of the Act 
did not apply to any such allotment or sale, provided that this power:
(a)	expires at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company after the passing of this resolution or on expiry of 15 

months from the passing of this resolution, whichever is the earlier, unless renewed, varied or revoked by the Company prior to or  
on such date, and save that the Company may, before such expiry, make offers or agreements which would or might require equity 
securities to be allotted after such expiry and the Directors may allot equity securities or sell treasury shares in pursuance of any such 
offer or agreement as if the power conferred by this resolution had not expired; and

(b)	shall be limited to the allotment of equity securities for cash up to an aggregate nominal amount of £620,237 (being approximately 
equal to 10% of the nominal value of the issued share capital of the Company immediately prior to the passing of this resolution).

	 This power applies in relation to the sale of treasury shares as if in the opening paragraph of this resolution the words ‘and subject to the 
passing of resolution 13’ were omitted.

15.	To authorise the Company generally and unconditionally, pursuant to and in accordance with section 701 of the Companies Act 2006, to 
make market purchases (within the meaning of section 693(4) of the Companies Act 2006) of ordinary shares of £0.01 each (or of such other 
nominal value as the Directors of the Company shall resolve) either for retention as treasury shares for future reissue, resale or transfer or 
cancellation provided that: 
(a)	 the maximum aggregate number of ordinary shares that may be purchased is 92,973,578 ordinary shares or, if less, 14.99% of the issued 

ordinary share capital of the Company immediately prior to the passing of this resolution (excluding treasury shares); 
(b)	the minimum price (excluding expenses) which may be paid for each ordinary share is the nominal value at the time of purchase; 
(c)	the maximum price (excluding expenses) which may be paid for each ordinary share is the higher of:

(i)	 105% of the average market value of an ordinary share in the Company for the five business days prior to the day the purchase is made; and 
(ii)	 the higher of the last independent trade and the highest current independent bid on the London Stock Exchange; and 

(d)	unless previously varied, revoked or renewed, the authority hereby conferred shall expire at the conclusion of the Company’s next 
Annual General Meeting or on 15 months from the passing of this resolution, whichever is the earlier, save that the Company may, 
before the expiry of the authority granted by this resolution, enter into a contract to purchase ordinary shares which will or may be 
executed wholly or partly after the expiry of such authority and may make a purchase of shares pursuant to any such contract.

16.	That, the Company be and is hereby generally and unconditionally authorised to hold general meetings (other than Annual General Meetings) 
on 14 clear days’ notice, such authority to expire at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or 15 months from 
the passing of this resolution, whichever is the earlier.

By order of the Board

Target Fund Managers Limited
Company Secretary

Registered office: 
Level 4, Dashwood House 
69 Old Broad Street 
London 
EC2M 1QS

13 October 2025
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Notes:
1.	 Only those shareholders registered in the Company’s register of members at 6.00 p.m. on 2 December 2025 or, if the meeting is adjourned, 

6.00 p.m. on the day two working days prior to the adjourned meeting, shall be entitled to attend and vote at the meeting. Changes to the 
register of members after the relevant deadline shall be disregarded in determining the rights of any person to attend and vote at the meeting.

2.	 Information regarding the meeting, including the information required by section 311A of the Companies Act 2006 (the ‘Act’), can be found 
at www.targethealthcarereit.co.uk.

3.	 As a member you are entitled to appoint a proxy to exercise all or any of your rights to attend, speak and vote at the meeting and you 
should have received a proxy form with this notice of meeting. A proxy does not need to be a shareholder of the Company but must 
attend the meeting to represent you. You may appoint more than one proxy provided each proxy is appointed to exercise rights attached 
to different shares. You can only appoint a proxy using the procedures set out in these notes and the notes to the proxy form. You may not 
use any electronic address provided either in this notice or any related documents (including the financial statements and proxy form) to 
communicate with the Company for any purpose other than those expressly stated.

4.	 Shareholders can: (a) appoint a proxy and give proxy instructions by returning the enclosed proxy form by post (see Note 5); or (b) if a 
CREST member, register their proxy appointment by utilising the CREST electronic proxy appointment service (see Note 6); or (c) via  
the Proxymity platform (see Note 7). Appointment of a proxy does not preclude you from attending the meeting and voting in person.  
If you have appointed a proxy and attend the meeting and vote in person, your proxy appointment will automatically be terminated.

5.	 The notes to the proxy form explain how to direct your proxy how to vote on each resolution or withhold their vote. To appoint a proxy 
using the proxy form, the form must be: (a) completed and signed; (b) sent or delivered to Computershare Investor Services PLC at  
The Pavilions, Bridgwater Road, Bristol BS99 6ZY; and (c) received by Computershare Investor Services PLC no later than 4.00 p.m. on  
2 December 2025 or, in the event of an adjournment of the meeting, 48 hours before the adjourned meeting. In the case of a shareholder 
which is a company, the proxy form must be executed under its common seal or signed on its behalf by an officer of the company or an 
attorney for the company. Any power of attorney or any other authority under which the proxy form is signed (or a duly certified copy of 
such power or authority) must be included with the proxy form. If you have not received a proxy form and believe that you should have one, 
or if you require additional proxy forms, please contact Computershare Investor Services PLC, The Pavilions, Bridgwater Road, Bristol  
BS99 6ZY (Telephone: 0370 703 0013).

6.	 CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies by utilising the CREST electronic proxy appointment service may do so for the 
meeting and any adjournment(s) of it by using the procedures described in the CREST manual (available via www.euroclear.com). CREST 
personal members or other CREST sponsored members, and those CREST members who have appointed a voting service provider(s), 
should refer to their CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s), who will be able to take the appropriate action on their behalf. In order  
for a proxy appointment made using the CREST service to be valid, the appropriate CREST message (a ‘CREST Proxy Instruction’) must be 
properly authenticated in accordance with Euroclear UK & International Limited’s (EUI) specifications and must contain the information 
required for such instructions, as described in the CREST Manual. The message, regardless of whether it constitutes the appointment of  
a proxy or is an amendment to the instruction given to a previously appointed proxy, must, in order to be valid, be transmitted so as 
to be received by Computershare Investor Services PLC (ID 3RA50) no later than 4.00 p.m. on 2 December 2025 or, in the event of an 
adjournment of the meeting, 48 hours before the adjourned meeting. For this purpose, the time of receipt will be taken to be the time (as 
determined by the timestamp applied to the message by the CREST applications host) from which the issuer’s agent is able to retrieve the 
message by enquiry to CREST in the manner prescribed by CREST. After this time, any change of instructions to proxies appointed through 
CREST should be communicated to the appointee through other means. CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors  
or voting service providers should note that EUI does not make available special procedures in CREST for any particular message. Normal 
system timings and limitations will therefore apply in relation to the input of CREST proxy instructions. It is the responsibility of the CREST 
member concerned to take (or, if the CREST member is a CREST personal member or sponsored member, or has appointed a voting 
service provider(s), to procure that his/her CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s) take(s)) such action as shall be necessary to ensure 
that a message is transmitted by means of the CREST system by any particular time. In this connection, CREST members and, where 
applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers are referred, in particular, to those sections of the CREST manual concerning 
practical limitations of the CREST system and timings. The Company may treat as invalid a CREST proxy instruction in the circumstances 
set out in Regulation 35(5)(a) of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001.

7.	 Proxymity Voting – if you are an institutional investor you may also be able to appoint a proxy electronically via the Proxymity platform,  
a process which has been agreed by the Company and approved by the Registrar. For further information regarding Proxymity, please  
go to www.proxymity.io. Your proxy must be lodged by 4.00 p.m. on 2 December 2025 in order to be considered valid. Before you can 
appoint a proxy via this process you will need to have agreed to Proxymity’s associated terms and conditions. It is important that you read 
these carefully as you will be bound by them and they will govern the electronic appointment of your proxy.

8.	 A corporation which is a shareholder can appoint one or more corporate representatives who may exercise, on its behalf, all its powers  
as a member provided that no more than one corporate representative exercises powers over the same share.

9.	 As at 6.00 p.m. on 10 October 2025, the Company’s issued share capital comprised 620,237,346 Ordinary Shares of £0.01 each. Each 
Ordinary Share carries the right to one vote at a General Meeting of the Company and, therefore, the total number of voting rights in the 
Company as at 6.00 p.m. on 10 October 2025 is 620,237,346. The website referred to in Note 2 will include information on the number of 
shares and voting rights.

10.	Under section 319A of the Act, any member attending the meeting has a right to ask questions. The Company must answer any question 
you ask relating to the business being dealt with at the meeting unless: (a) answering the question would interfere unduly with the 
preparation for the meeting or involve the disclosure of confidential information; (b) the answer has already been given on a website in the 
form of an answer to a question; or (c) it is undesirable in the interests of the Company or the good order of the meeting that the question 
be answered.

11.	Under section 338 of the Act, a member or members meeting the qualification criteria set out in Note 14 on page 100 may, subject to 
certain conditions, require the Company to circulate to members notice of a resolution which may properly be moved and is intended to 
be moved at that meeting. The conditions are that: (a) the resolution must not, if passed, be ineffective (whether by reason of inconsistency 
with any enactment or the Company’s constitution or otherwise); (b) the resolution must not be defamatory of any person, frivolous or 
vexatious; and (c) the request: (i) may be in hard copy form or in electronic form; (ii) must identify the resolution of which notice is to be 
given by either setting out the resolution in full or, if supporting a resolution sent by another member, clearly identifying the resolution 
which is being supported; (iii) must be authenticated by the person or persons making it; and (iv) must be received by the Company not 
later than six weeks before the meeting to which the request relates.
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12.	Under section 338A of the Act 2006, a member or members meeting the qualification criteria set out at Note 14 below may require the 
Company to include in the business to be dealt with at the Annual General Meeting a matter (other than a proposed resolution) which  
may properly be included in the business (a matter of business). The request must have been received by the Company not later than  
23 October 2025. The conditions are that the matter of business must not be defamatory of any person, frivolous or vexatious. The  
request must identify the matter of business by either setting it out in full or, if supporting a statement sent by another member, clearly 
identify the matter of business which is being supported. The request must be accompanied by a statement setting out the grounds for  
the request. Members seeking to do this should write to the Company providing their full name and address.

13.	Under section 527 of the Act, a member or members meeting the qualification criteria set out at Note 14 below may have the right to 
request the Company to publish on its website a statement setting out any matter that such members propose to raise at the meeting 
relating to the audit of the Company’s accounts (including the Auditor’s Report and the conduct of the audit) that are to be laid before the 
meeting. Where the Company is required to publish such a statement on its website: (a) it may not require the shareholders making the 
request to pay any expenses incurred by the Company in complying with the request; (b) it must forward the statement to the Company’s 
auditors no later than the time the statement is made available on the Company’s website; and (c) the statement may be dealt with as part 
of the business of the meeting. The request must: (a) be in writing to Target Fund Managers Limited at Glendevon House, Castle Business 
Park, Stirling FK9 4TZ; (b) either set out the statement in full or, if supporting a statement sent by another shareholder, clearly identify the 
statement which is being supported; (c) be authenticated by the person or persons making it; and (d) be received by the Company at least 
one week before the meeting.

14.	In order to be able to exercise the members’ rights in Notes 11 to 13, the relevant request must be made by: (a) a member or members 
having a right to vote at the meeting and holding at least 5% of total voting rights of the Company; or (b) at least 100 members having  
a right to vote at the meeting and holding, on average, at least £100 of paid-up share capital.

15.	If you are a person who has been nominated under section 146 of the Companies Act 2006 to enjoy information rights (Nominated 
Person), you may have a right under an agreement between you and the shareholder of the Company who has nominated you to have 
information rights (Relevant Shareholder) to be appointed or to have someone else appointed as a proxy for the meeting. If you either do 
not have such a right or if you have such a right but do not wish to exercise it, you may have a right under an agreement between you and 
the Relevant Shareholder to give instructions to the Relevant Shareholder as to the exercise of voting rights. Your main point of contact 
in terms of your investment in the Company remains the Relevant Shareholder (or, perhaps, your custodian or broker) and you should 
continue to contact them (and not the Company) regarding any changes or queries relating to your personal details and your interest in  
the Company (including any administrative matters). The only exception to this is where the Company expressly requests a response from 
you. The statement of the rights of members in relation to the appointment of proxies in Notes 3 and 4 on page 99 does not apply to a 
Nominated Person.

16.	Any person holding 3% or more of the total voting rights of the Company who appoints a person other than the Chair of the meeting as  
his or her proxy will need to ensure that both he/she and his or her proxy comply with their respective disclosure obligations under the  
UK Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules.

17.	Copies of the Directors’ letters of appointment are available for inspection at the Company’s registered office during normal business hours 
and at the place of the meeting from at least 15 minutes prior to the meeting until the end of the meeting.

Notice of Annual General Meeting continued
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Shareholder Information

Tax Summary for Real Estate Investment Trusts
Target Healthcare REIT plc is a Real Estate Investment Trust (REIT) and is tax resident in the UK under Part 12 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010, 
subject to continuing compliance with the REIT rules and regulations. The main REIT rules with which the Group must comply in order to 
retain its REIT status are summarised as follows:
•	 at the start of each accounting period, the assets of the tax-exempt business must be at least 75% of the total value of the Group’s assets;
•	 at least 75% of the Group’s total profits must arise from the tax-exempt business;
•	 at least 90% of the tax-exempt rental business profits must be distributed in the form of a Property Income Distribution; and
•	 the Group must carry on a ‘property rental business’ throughout each accounting period and must hold a minimum of either a single 

commercial property worth at least £20 million or three properties with none exceeding 40% of the total value of the properties.

A REIT does not suffer UK corporation tax on the profits (income and capital gains) derived from its qualifying property rental businesses in the 
UK and elsewhere (the ‘Tax-Exempt Business’), provided that certain conditions are satisfied. Instead, distributions in respect of the Tax-Exempt 
Business will be treated for UK tax purposes as UK property income in the hands of shareholders (see further below for details on the UK tax 
treatment of shareholders in a REIT). A dividend paid by the Company relating to profits or gains of the Tax-Exempt Business is referred to in 
this section as a Property Income Distribution (‘PID’).

UK corporation tax remains payable in the normal way in respect of income and gains from the Company’s other business, generally including 
any property trading business, not included in the Tax-Exempt Business (the ‘Residual Business’). Dividends relating to the Residual Business 
are treated for UK tax purposes as normal dividends. Any normal dividend paid by the Company is referred to as a Non-Property Income 
Distribution (‘Non-PID’).

A REIT may become subject to an additional corporation tax charge if it pays a distribution to corporate shareholders that hold 10 per cent 
or more of share capital or voting rights and/or are entitled to 10 per cent or more of distributions. This tax charge will not be incurred if the 
REIT has taken reasonable steps to avoid making distributions to such a shareholder in line with HMRC guidance and has been relaxed for 
shareholders who are entitled to receive gross PIDs effective from 1 April 2022.

UK Taxation of PIDs
A PID is, together with any property income distribution from any other REIT company, treated as taxable income from a single UK property 
business. The basic rate of income tax (currently 20%) will be withheld by the Company (where required) on the PID unless the shareholder  
is entitled to receive PIDs without income tax being deducted at source (‘Gross PIDs’). This is dependant on the shareholder notifying the 
Company’s registrar of this entitlement sufficiently in advance of a PID being paid and the Company being satisfied that the shareholder 
concerned is entitled to that treatment.

Shareholders entitled to elect to receive gross distributions may complete the declaration form which is available on request from the 
Company through the contact details provided on its website, www.targethealthcarereit.co.uk, or from the Company’s registrar. Shareholders 
who qualify for gross payments are, principally, UK resident companies, certain UK public bodies, UK charities, UK pension schemes and the 
managers of ISAs, PEPs and Child Trust Funds, in each case subject to certain conditions. Individuals and non-UK residents do not qualify for 
gross payments of distributions and should not complete the declaration form.

Shareholders who are individuals may, depending on their particular circumstances, either be liable to further UK income tax on their PID  
at their applicable marginal income tax rate, incur no further UK tax liability on their PID, or be entitled to claim repayment of some or all  
of the UK income tax withheld on their PID with potential offsets against tax payable in another jurisdiction under a Double Tax Treaty. The 
£1,000 property income allowance does not apply to PIDs.

Corporate shareholders who are within the charge to UK corporation tax will generally be liable to pay corporation tax on their PID and,  
if income tax is withheld at source, the tax withheld can be set against the company’s liability to UK corporation tax or against any income  
tax which it is required to withhold in the accounting period in which the PID is received.

UK Taxation of Non-PIDs
Under current UK legislation, most individual shareholders who are resident in the UK for taxation purposes receive a tax-free dividend 
allowance of £500 per annum for tax year 2025/26 (£500 per annum for tax year 2024/25) and any dividend income (including Non‑PIDs)  
in excess of this allowance is subject to income tax.

UK resident corporate shareholders (other than dealers and certain insurance companies) are not liable to corporation tax or income tax  
in respect of dividends provided that the dividends are exempt under Part 9A of the Corporation Tax Act 2009.

UK Taxation of Chargeable Gains in Respect of Ordinary Shares in the Company
Any gain on disposal (by sale, transfer, redemption or otherwise) of the Company’s ordinary shares by shareholders resident in the UK for 
taxation purposes will be subject to capital gains tax in the case of an individual shareholder, or UK corporation tax on chargeable gains in  
the case of a corporate shareholder.
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UK ISAs and SIPPS
It is expected that the Company’s shares will be eligible for inclusion in ISAs and Investment-Regulated Pension Schemes.

The statements on taxation on pages 101 and 102 are intended to be a general outline of certain tax consequences that may arise in relation 
to the Company and shareholders. This is not a comprehensive summary of all technical aspects of the taxation of the Company and its 
shareholders and is not intended to constitute legal or tax advice to investors.

The statements relate to the UK tax implications of a UK resident individual investing in the Company (unless expressly stated otherwise).  
The statements relate to investors acquiring the Company’s ordinary shares for investment purposes only, and not for the purposes of any 
trade. The tax consequences for each investor of investing in the Company may depend upon the investor’s own tax position and upon the 
relevant laws of any jurisdiction to which the investor is subject. The statements are based on current tax legislation and HMRC practice, both 
of which are subject to change at any time, possibly with retrospective effect, and there can be no guarantee that the tax position or proposed 
tax position prevailing at the time an investment in the Company is made will endure indefinitely.

Prospective investors should familiarise themselves with, and where appropriate should consult their own professional advisers on, the overall 
tax consequences of investing in the Company.

Historical Distributions
Distributions to shareholders may potentially include both PID and Non-PID Dividends as calculated in accordance with specific attribution 
rules. The Company provides shareholders with a certificate setting out how much of their dividend is a PID and how much, if any, is a Non-PID. 
A breakdown of the dividends paid in relation to the previous five financial years is set out below and details of all the dividends paid since the 
Group’s launch are available at www.targethealthcarereit.co.uk

Distribution Ex-dividend date Payment date
PID  

(pence per share)
Non-PID  

(pence per share)
Total distribution  

(pence per share)

In relation to the year ended 30 June 2025
Fourth interim dividend 14/08/25 29/08/25 – 1.471 1.471

Third interim dividend 15/05/25 30/05/25 1.471 – 1.471

Second interim dividend 13/02/25 28/02/25 1.471 – 1.471
First interim dividend 14/11/24 29/11/24 1.471 – 1.471

Total 4.413 1.471 5.884

In relation to the year ended 30 June 2024
Fourth interim dividend 15/08/24 30/08/24 1.428 – 1.428
Third interim dividend 16/05/24 31/05/24 1.428 – 1.428
Second interim dividend 08/02/24 23/02/24 1.428 – 1.428
First interim dividend 09/11/23 24/11/23 1.428 – 1.428

Total 5.712 – 5.712

In relation to the year ended 30 June 2023
Fourth interim dividend 10/08/23 25/08/23 1.190 0.210 1.400
Third interim dividend 11/05/23 26/05/23 1.400 – 1.400
Second interim dividend 09/02/23 24/02/23 1.690 – 1.690
First interim dividend 10/11/22 25/11/22 1.690 – 1.690

Total 5.970 0.210 6.180

In relation to the year ended 30 June 2022
Fourth interim dividend 11/08/22 26/08/22 – 1.690 1.690
Third interim dividend 12/05/22 27/05/22 1.690 – 1.690
Second interim dividend 10/02/22 25/02/22 1.690 – 1.690
First interim dividend 11/11/21 26/11/21 1.690 – 1.690

Total 5.070 1.690 6.760

In relation to the year ended 30 June 2021
Fourth interim dividend 12/08/21 27/08/21 0.168 1.512 1.680
Third interim dividend 13/05/21 28/05/21 1.680 – 1.680
Second interim dividend 11/02/21 26/02/21 1.680 – 1.680
First interim dividend 12/11/20 27/11/20 1.680 – 1.680

Total 5.208 1.512 6.720

Shareholder Information continued
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Historical Record 

Assets
At 30 June 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Total assets (£’000) 282,791 306,246 434,822 538,379 663,772 718,394 963,658 908,258 967,370 986,186
Market value of property  

portfolio (£’000) 210,666 281,951 385,542 500,884 617,584 684,845 911,596 868,705 908,530 929,940
Shareholders’ funds (£’000) 253,282 256,937 358,607 413,089 494,113 565,185 698,767 654,808 689,293 712,460

Performance
At 30 June 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

EPRA NTA per share 100.6p 101.9p 105.7p 107.5p 108.1p 110.4p 112.3p 104.5p 110.7p 114.8p
Share price 109.0p 117.8p 110.5p 115.6p 110.0p 115.4p 108.4p 71.8p 78.5p 104.2p
Premium/(discount) 8.3% 15.6% 4.5% 7.5% 1.8% 4.5% (3.5)% (31.3)% (29.1)% (9.2)%

IFRS EPS 6.81p 7.58p 9.77p 8.10p 7.18p 9.23p 8.20p (1.06)p 11.77p 9.81p
Adjusted EPRA EPS 5.25p 5.23p 5.54p 5.45p 5.27p 5.46p 5.05p 6.00p 6.13p 6.08p
Dividends per share 6.18p 6.28p 6.45p 6.58p 6.68p 6.72p 6.76p 6.18p 5.71p 5.88p

Ongoing charges 1.42% 1.48% 1.48% 1.52% 1.51% 1.55% 1.51% 1.53% 1.51% 1.51%

Contact Information
Investor relations
Information on Target Healthcare REIT plc can be found on its website at www.targethealthcarereit.co.uk including details on the  
Company’s share price history, historical dividends and regulatory reports, including the Group’s Annual Reports, Interim Reports, 
Sustainability Reports and Quarterly Investor Reports.

Registrar:
Computershare Investor Services PLC 
The Pavilions
Bridgwater Road 
Bristol BS99 6ZZ
T: +44 (0)370 702 0000
E: www.investorcentre.co.uk/contactus

Enquiries about the following administrative matters should be addressed to the Company’s registrar:
•	 Change of address notification.
•	 Lost share certificates.
•	 Dividend payment enquiries.
•	 Dividend mandate instructions. Shareholders may have their dividends paid directly into their bank or building society accounts by 

completing a dividend mandate form. Dividend confirmations, where applicable, are sent directly to shareholders’ registered addresses.
•	 Amalgamation of shareholdings. Shareholders who receive more than one copy of the Annual Report are invited to amalgamate their 

accounts on the share register.

Shareholders can view and manage their shareholdings online at www.investorcentre.co.uk, including updating address records, making dividend 
payment enquiries, updating dividend mandates, viewing any outstanding payments and viewing the latest share price. Shareholders will need 
their Shareholder Reference Number, which can be found on their share certificate or a recent dividend confirmation, to access this site. 

Warning to shareholders – Boiler Room Scams
Fraudsters use persuasive and high-pressure tactics to lure investors into scams. They may offer to sell shares that turn out to be 
worthless or non-existent, or to buy shares at an inflated price in return for an upfront payment.

If you receive unsolicited investment advice or requests: 
•	 Check the Financial Services Register from www.fca.org.uk to see if the person or firm contacting you is authorised by the Financial 

Conduct Authority (‘FCA’);
•	 Check the investment opportunity you have been offered at www.fca.org.uk/scamsmart;
•	 Call the FCA on 0800 111 6768 if the firm does not have contact details on the Register or you are told they are out of date;
•	 Check the list of unauthorised firms to avoid at www.fca.org.uk;
•	 Consider that if you buy or sell shares from an unauthorised firm you will not have access to the Financial Ombudsman Service or 

Financial Services Compensation Scheme; and
•	 Think about getting independent financial and professional advice.

If you are approached by fraudsters please tell the FCA by using the reporting details at www.fca.org.uk/consumers/report-scam where 
you can find out more about investment scams. You can also call the FCA Consumer Helpline on 0800 111 6768. If you have already paid 
money to share fraudsters you should contact Action Fraud on 0300 123 2040 or via their website at www.actionfraud.police.uk.
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The Company uses Alternative Performance Measures (‘APMs’). APMs do not have a standard meaning prescribed by GAAP and therefore may 
not be comparable to similar measures presented by other entities. The definitions of all APMs used by the Company are highlighted in the 
glossary on pages 108 to 110, with detailed calculations, including reconciliation to the IFRS figures where appropriate, being set out below  
and within the EPRA Performance Measures on pages 105 and 106.

Discount or Premium – the amount by which the market price per share is lower or higher than the net asset value per share.

2025 
pence

2024 
pence

EPRA Net Tangible Assets per share (see Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements) (a) 114.8 110.7
Share price (b) 104.2 78.5

(Discount)/premium = (b-a)/a (9.2)% (29.1)%

Dividend Cover – the percentage by which Group specific adjusted EPRA earnings for the year cover the dividend paid.

2025 
£’000

2024 
£’000

Group-specific EPRA earnings for the year (see Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements) (a) 37,739 38,037

First interim dividend 9,123 8,857
Second interim dividend 9,124 8,857
Third interim dividend 9,124 8,857
Fourth interim dividend 9,124 8,857

Dividends paid in relation to the year (b) 36,495 35,428

Dividend cover = (a/b) 103% 107%

Net Debt to EBITDA ratio – a leverage ratio that measures the net earnings available to address debt obligations.

2025 
£’000

2024 
£’000

Net debt (see page 106) (a) 219,761 224,385

Group-specific EPRA earnings for the year (see Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements) 37,739 38,037
Net finance costs 10,233 10,800

EBITDA (b) 47,972 48,837

Net debt to EBITDA ratio = (a/b) 4.6 times 4.6 times

Ongoing Charges – a measure of all operating costs incurred, calculated as a percentage of average net assets in that year.

2025 
£’000

2024 
£’000

Investment management fee 7,816 7,518
Other expenses 3,907 3,074
Less direct property costs and other non-recurring items* (1,129) (405)
Adjustment to management fee arrangements and irrecoverable VAT** 9 (8)

Total (a) 10,603 10,179

Average net assets (b) 702,441 673,625

Ongoing charges = (a/b) 1.51% 1.51%

*	 Excludes, amongst other items, the one-off costs related to the administration of the tenant entity at one of the Group’s care home properties. Further details are 
provided in the case study on page 19.

**	 Based on the Group’s net asset value as at 30 June 2025, the management fee is expected to be paid at a weighted average rate of 1.02% (2024: 1.02%) of the Group’s 
average net asset plus an effective irrecoverable VAT rate of approximately 9% (2024: 9%). The management fee has therefore been amended so that the Ongoing Charges 
figure includes the expected all-in management fee rate of 1.11% (2024: 1.11%).

The Group has also published a cost figure in its Key Information Document which follows the methodology previously prescribed by UK law 
and regulations applicable to PRIIPs. Under this methodology the reported ‘portfolio transaction costs’ at 30 June 2025 would be 0.06%  
(2024: 0.51%). At the same date, ‘other ongoing costs’ would be 3.53% (2024: 3.45%), which includes finance costs of 1.63% (2024: 1.73%).  
The Company’s Key Information Document is available on its website at: www.targethealthcarereit.co.uk.

Total Return – the return to shareholders calculated on a per share basis by adding dividends paid in the period to the increase or decrease  
in the Share Price or NAV. The dividends are assumed to have been reinvested in the form of Ordinary Shares or Net Assets.

2025 2024

EPRA NTA 
(pence)

IFRS NAV
(pence)

Share price 
(pence)

EPRA NTA 
(pence)

IFRS NAV
(pence)

Share price 
(pence)

Value at start of year (a) 110.7 111.1 78.5 104.5 105.6 71.8
Value at end of year (b) 114.8 114.9 104.2 110.7 111.1 78.5

Change in value during the year (b-a) (c) 4.1 3.8 25.7 6.2 5.5 6.7
Dividends paid (d) 5.9 5.9 5.9 5.7 5.7 5.7
Additional impact of dividend reinvestment (e) 0.3 0.2 0.9 0.4 0.4 –

Total gain in year (c+d+e) (f) 10.3 9.9 32.5 12.3 11.6 12.4

Total return for the year = (f/a) 9.3% 8.9% 41.4% 11.8% 11.0% 17.2%

Alternative Performance Measures
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EPRA Performance Measures

The European Public Real Estate Association is the industry body representing listed companies in the real estate sector. EPRA publishes  
Best Practice Recommendations (‘BPR’) to establish consistent reporting by European property companies. Further information on the  
EPRA BPR can be found at www.epra.com.

The figures below are calculated and presented in line with the BPR Guidelines published by EPRA in September 2024.

2025 2024

EPRA Net Reinstatement Value (£’000) 774,063 746,499
EPRA Net Tangible Assets (£’000) 711,888 686,473
EPRA Net Disposal Value (£’000) 740,389 719,073
EPRA Net Reinstatement Value per share (pence) 124.8 120.4
EPRA Net Tangible Assets per share (pence) 114.8 110.7
EPRA Net Disposal Value per share (pence) 119.4 115.9
EPRA Earnings (£’000) 47,855 47,197
Group specific adjusted EPRA earnings (£’000) 37,739 38,037
EPRA Earnings per share (pence) 7.72 7.61
Group specific adjusted EPRA earnings per share (pence) 6.08 6.13
EPRA Net Initial Yield 6.04% 6.05%
EPRA Topped-up Net Initial Yield 6.22% 6.20%
EPRA Vacancy Rate – –
EPRA Cost Ratio (including direct vacancy costs) 18.3% 16.6%
EPRA Group specific adjusted Cost Ratio (including direct vacancy costs) 21.8% 19.1%
EPRA Cost Ratio (excluding direct vacancy costs) 18.3% 16.6%
EPRA Group specific adjusted Cost Ratio (excluding direct vacancy costs) 21.8% 19.1%
EPRA Loan-to-Value 23.6% 24.7%
Capital Expenditure (£’000) 7,680 45,776
Like-for-like Rental Growth 3.3% 3.8%

EPRA NAV metrics and EPRA Earnings
Full details of these calculations, including reconciliations of each to the IFRS measures, are detailed in Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements on pages 76 and 77.

EPRA Net Initial Yield and EPRA Topped-up Net Initial Yield 
EPRA Net Initial Yield is calculated as annualised rental income based on the cash rents passing at the balance sheet date, less non-recoverable 
property operating expenses, divided by the market value of the property, increased with (estimated) purchasers’ costs. The EPRA Topped-up 
Net Initial Yield incorporates an adjustment in respect of the expiration of rent-free periods (or other unexpired lease incentives).

As at
30 June 2025 

£’000

As at
30 June 2024 

£’000

Annualised passing rental income based on cash rents (a) 59,369 57,462
Notional rent expiration of rent-free periods or other lease incentives 1,800 1,363

Topped-up net annualised rent (b) 61,169 58,825

Standing assets (see page 78) 921,080 889,255
Allowance for estimated purchasers’ costs 62,175 60,026

Grossed-up completed property portfolio valuation (c) 983,255 949,281

EPRA Net Initial Yield = (a/c) 6.04% 6.05%
EPRA Topped-up Net Initial Yield = (b/c) 6.22% 6.20%

EPRA Vacancy Rate 
EPRA Vacancy Rate is the estimated rental value (ERV) of vacant space (excluding forward fund developments) divided by the contractual rent 
of the investment property portfolio, expressed as a percentage.

As at
30 June 2025 

£’000

As at
30 June 2024 

£’000

Annualised potential rental value of vacant premises* (a) – –
Annualised potential rental value of the property portfolio (including vacant properties) (b) 61,169 58,825

EPRA Vacancy Rate = (a/b) – –

*	 As detailed in Note 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, there were no unoccupied properties at either 30 June 2024 or 30 June 2025.



Target Healthcare REIT plc 

106

EPRA Cost Ratio
The EPRA cost ratios are produced using EPRA methodology, which aims to provide a consistent base-line from which companies can provide 
additional information, and include all property expenses and management fees. Consistent with the Group specific adjusted EPRA earnings 
detailed in Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, similar adjustments have been made to also present the adjusted Cost Ratio 
which is thought more appropriate for the Group’s business model.

Year ended
30 June 2025

£’000

Year ended
30 June 2024

£’000

Investment management fee 7,816 7,518
Credit loss allowance and bad debts 1,612 962
Other expenses 3,907 3,074

EPRA costs (including direct vacancy costs) (a) 13,335 11,554
Specific cost adjustments, if applicable – –

Group specific adjusted EPRA costs (including direct vacancy costs) (b) 13,335 11,554

Direct vacancy costs (c) – –

Gross rental income per IFRS (d) 72,928 69,551
Adjusted for rental income arising from recognising guaranteed rent review uplifts (10,841) (10,927)
Adjusted for surrender premiums recognised in capital (1,505) –
Adjusted for development interest under forward fund arrangements 725 1,767

Group specific adjusted gross rental income (e) 61,307 60,391

EPRA Cost Ratio (including direct vacancy costs) = (a/d) 18.3% 16.6%
EPRA Group specific adjusted Cost Ratio (including direct vacancy costs) = (b/e) 21.8% 19.1%
EPRA Cost Ratio (excluding direct vacancy costs) = ((a-c)/d) 18.3% 16.6%
EPRA Group specific adjusted Cost Ratio (excluding direct vacancy costs) = ((b-c)/e) 21.8% 19.1%

EPRA Loan-to-Value
As at

30 June 2025 
£’000

As at
30 June 2024 

£’000

Borrowings 242,000 243,000
Net payables 17,400 20,269
Cash and cash equivalents (39,639) (38,884)

Net debt (a) 219,761 224,385

Investment properties at market value 929,940 908,530

Total property value (b) 929,940 908,530

EPRA Loan-to-Value = (a/b) 23.6% 24.7%

EPRA Capital Expenditure
Year ended 

30 June 2025 
£’000

Year ended 
30 June 2024 

£’000

Acquisitions (including acquisition costs) 30 332
Forward fund developments 3,085 40,368
Like-for-like portfolio 4,565 5,076

Total capital expenditure 7,680 45,776
Conversion from accrual to cash basis 5,305 (4,849)

Total capital expenditure on a cash basis 12,985 40,927

Like-for-like Rental Growth
Year ended 

30 June 2025 
£’000

Year ended 
30 June 2024 

£’000

Opening contractual rent (a) 58,825 56,557

Rent reviews 1,939 2,125
Re-tenanting of properties and performance linked increases 15 –

Like-for-like rental growth (b) 1,954 2,125
Acquisitions and developments 1,148 2,819
Disposals (758) (2,676)

Total movement (c) 2,344 2,268

Closing contractual rent = (a+c) 61,169 58,825

Like-for-like rental growth = (b/a) 3.3% 3.8%

EPRA Performance Measures continued
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c.2x over 85s
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34%
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1. Demographics
•	 Number of over 85s forecast  

to double to 3.6m by 2050.
•	 It is forecast that 1 in 8 people 

aged over 85 will require  
residential care.

•	 Societal shift means less elderly 
care provided within families.

2. Real estate standards
•	 Resident and family expectations 

on accommodation quality  
are increasing.

•	 Only 34% of rooms in UK have  
the en suite wet-rooms which are 
vital for hygiene, privacy & dignity.

•	 Purpose-built homes offer 
advantages for residents and care 
providers, and better social space 
for communities.

3. �Long-term investment,  
stable returns

•	 Lease structures are long-term 
(typically 30-35 years) and  
inflation-linked.

•	 Portfolio track record of strong 
returns and low volatility 
(defensive, non-cyclical).

•	 Long-term capital appropriate for 
vital UK social care infrastructure.

People aged 64 and over: Trend and projections

443k
beds 408k

residents

Total en suite wet-room provision
Proportion of the market is increasing as  
older homes close and new homes are built

Sources: Carterwood, analysis covers Great Britain  
as at September 2025.
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Eleven year total return vs standard deviation 2014-2024

257k 
shortage

151k
beds

Total supply Total demand Fit-for-
purpose 
supply

Data Centre

As the age of the UK population increases along with the care needs  
of older people, there is a clear requirement for investment that  
will modernise and grow the supply of fit-for-purpose care homes. 
Much of the UK’s existing care home real estate is sub-standard for 
residents and their care professionals. 

Responsible investment, applying specialist knowledge to a complex and sensitive sector, can deliver stable, long-term returns  
and provide positive social and community impact.

Source: MSCI, based on annual index to 31 December 2024.

Sources: 1901–2001, Census data; Following 2001, successive principal national projections (the latest being 
2021-based) from the Office for National Statistics and (formerly) the Government Actuary’s Department.
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Glossary of Terms and Definitions

Corporate Terms

AIC Association of Investment Companies. This is the trade body for Closed-end Investment Companies 
(www.theaic.co.uk).

AIFMD The UK version of the Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive and all delegated legislation 
thereunder as it forms part of UK law pursuant to the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018, as 
amended. Issued by the European Parliament in 2012 and 2013, the Directive requires that all investment 
vehicles, including Closed-end Investment Companies, must have appointed a Depositary and an 
Alternative Investment Fund Manager. The Board of Directors of a Closed-end Investment Company, 
nevertheless, remains fully responsible for all aspects of the company’s strategy, operations and 
compliance with regulations.

Closed-end Investment Company A company with a fixed issued ordinary share capital which is traded on an exchange at a price not 
necessarily related to the Net Asset Value of the company and where shares can only be issued or 
bought back by the company in certain circumstances. This contrasts with an open-ended investment 
company, which has units not traded on an exchange but issued or bought back from investors at a price 
directly related to the Net Asset Value.

CQC Care Quality Commission. The independent regulator of all health and social care services in England.

Depositary Under AIFMD rules, the Company must appoint a Depositary, whose duties in respect of investments, 
cash and similar assets include: safekeeping; verification of ownership and valuation; and cash monitoring. 
The Depositary’s oversight duties include, but are not limited to, oversight of share buy backs, dividend 
payments and adherence to investment limits. The Company’s Depositary is IQ EQ Depositary Company 
(UK) Limited.

Discount/Premium* The amount by which the market price per share of a Closed-end Investment Company is lower or 
higher than the net asset value per share. The share price of an Investment Company is derived from 
buyers and sellers trading their shares on the stock market. This price is not identical to the NAV. If the 
share price is lower than the NAV per share, the shares are trading at a discount and, if the share price is 
higher than the NAV per share, are said to be at a premium. The figure is calculated at a point in time and, 
unless stated otherwise, the Company measures its discount or premium relative to the EPRA NTA per 
share. The detailed method of calculation is shown on page 104.

Dividend The income from an investment. The Company currently pays interim dividends to shareholders quarterly.

Dividend Cover* The absolute value of Group specific adjusted EPRA Earnings divided by the absolute value of dividends 
relating to the period of calculation. The detailed method of calculation is shown on page 104.

Dividend Yield* The annual Dividend expressed as a percentage of the share price at the date of calculation.

EBITDA Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation costs. Generally considered to be a 
measure of a company’s operational performance excluding non-operational expenses.

EPRA Best Practice European Public Real Estate Association. A not-for-profit organisation which aims to foster trust for,  
and encourage greater investment in, listed real estate in Europe (www.epra.com). EPRA also issue  
best practice recommendations to enhance the financial reporting of listed property companies.

EPRA Cost Ratio Reflects the relevant overhead and operating costs of the business. It is calculated by expressing the  
sum of property expenses (net of service charge recoveries and third-party asset management fees)  
and administration expenses (excluding exceptional items) as a percentage of gross rental income.  
The detailed method of calculation is shown on page 106.

EPRA Earnings per Share* Recurring earnings from core operational activities. A key measure of a company’s underlying operating 
results from its property rental business and an indication of the extent to which current dividend 
payments are supported by earnings. A reconciliation of the earnings per IFRS and the EPRA earnings, 
including any items specific to the Group, is contained in Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

EPRA Group specific adjusted 
Cost Ratio*

The EPRA Cost Ratio adjusted for items thought appropriate for the Group’s specific business model.  
The adjustments made are consistent with those made to the Group specific adjusted EPRA earnings  
as detailed in Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

EPRA Loan-to-Value (‘LTV’)* A shareholder-gearing measure to determine the percentage of debt comparing to the appraised value  
of the properties. EPRA LTV is calculated as total gross debt (adding net trade payables and less cash)  
as a proportion of gross property value. The detailed method of calculation is shown on page 106.

EPRA Net Disposal Value (‘NDV’)* A measure of Net Asset Value which represents the shareholders’ value under a disposal scenario, where 
deferred tax, financial instruments and certain other adjustments are calculated to the full extent of their 
liability, net of any resulting tax. A reconciliation of the NAV per IFRS and the EPRA NDV is contained in 
Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

EPRA Net Initial Yield* Annualised rental income based on the cash rents passing at the balance sheet date, less non-recoverable 
property operating expenses, divided by the market value of the property, increased with (estimated) 
purchasers’ costs. EPRA’s purpose is to provide a comparable measure around Europe for portfolio 
valuations. The detailed method of calculation is shown on page 105.

EPRA Net Reinstatement Value 
(‘NRV’)*

A measure of Net Asset Value which assumes that entities never sell assets and aims to represent the 
value required to rebuild the entity. The objective is to highlight the value of net assets on a long-term 
basis. Assets and liabilities that are not expected to crystallise in normal circumstances, such as the fair 
value movements on financial derivatives, are excluded and the costs of recreating the Group through 
investment markets, such as property acquisition costs and taxes, are included. A reconciliation of the  
NAV per IFRS and the EPRA NRV is contained in Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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EPRA Net Tangible Assets (‘NTA’)* A measure of Net Asset Value which assumes that entities buy and sell assets, thereby crystallising certain 
levels of unavoidable deferred tax. A reconciliation of the NAV per IFRS and the EPRA NTA is contained in 
Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

EPRA Topped-up Net Initial Yield* Incorporates an adjustment to the EPRA Net Initial Yield in respect of the expiration of rent-free periods 
(or other unexpired lease incentives). The detailed method of calculation is shown on page 105.

GAAP Generally Accepted Accounting Practice. This includes UK GAAP and International GAAP (IFRS or 
International Financial Reporting Standards). The Group’s Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared 
in accordance with UK-adopted IFRS.

Gearing Unlike open-ended investment companies, Closed-end Investment Companies have the ability to 
borrow to invest. This term is used to describe the level of borrowings that an Investment Company has 
undertaken. The higher the level of borrowings, the higher the gearing ratio. The gross gearing figure is 
calculated as debt divided by the market value of the properties held. The net gearing figure is calculated 
as debt less cash divided by the market value of the properties held.

Investment Manager The Company’s Investment Manager is Target Fund Managers Limited. Further details are set out on 
pages 34 and 35 and in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

IRR (or Internal Rate of Return)* A metric used in financial analysis to estimate the profitability of potential investments. The IRR is the 
discount rate that makes the net present value of all cash flows equal to zero in a discounted cash  
flow analysis.

Leverage As defined under AIFMD rules, leverage is any method by which the exposure of an AIF is increased 
through borrowing of cash or securities or leverage embedded in derivative positions. Leverage is 
broadly equivalent to Gearing, but is expressed as a ratio between the assets (excluding borrowings)  
and the net assets (after taking account of borrowing). Under the gross method, exposure represents the 
sum of the Group’s positions after deduction of cash balances, without taking account of any hedging or 
netting arrangements. Under the commitment method, exposure is calculated without the deduction of 
cash balances and after certain hedging and netting positions are offset against each other.

Loan-to-Value* A measure of the Group’s Gearing level. Gross LTV is calculated as total gross debt as a proportion of gross 
property value. Net LTV is calculated as total gross debt less cash as a proportion of gross property value.

Market Capitalisation The stock market value of the Company as determined by multiplying the number of Ordinary Shares  
in issue, excluding any shares held in treasury, by the Share Price of the Ordinary Shares.

MSCI Produces indexes for both privately-held real estate portfolios, as well as publicly-listed organisations 
which provides a long performance history and which are mostly appraised quarterly.

NAV per Ordinary Share This is calculated as the Net Asset Value (NAV) divided by the number of shares in issue.

Net Asset Value  
(or Shareholders’ Funds)

The value of total assets less liabilities. Liabilities for this purpose include current and long-term liabilities. 
It represents the underlying value of an Investment Company at a point in time.

Non-Property Income 
Distribution (‘Non-PID’) 
(or Ordinary Dividend)

The Dividends paid by the Company relating to profits or gains of the Tax-Exempt Business. Further details 
on the categorisation of Dividends paid by a REIT are included in the Tax Summary on pages 101 and 102.

Ongoing Charges Ratio* A measure of all operating costs incurred in the reporting period, calculated as a percentage of average 
net assets in that year. Operating costs exclude costs of buying and selling investments, interest costs, 
taxation, non-recurring costs and the costs of buying back or issuing ordinary shares. In calculating this 
figure, the Group follows the methodology and guidance published by the AIC. The detailed method of 
calculation is shown on page 104.

Ordinary Shares The main type of equity capital issued by conventional Investment Companies. Shareholders are entitled 
to their share of both income, in the form of dividends paid by the Investment Company, and any capital 
growth. The Company has only Ordinary Shares in issue.

Property Income Distribution 
(‘PID’)

The Dividends paid by the Company relating to profits or gains of the Residual Business. Further details 
on the categorisation of Dividends paid by a REIT are included in the Tax Summary on pages 101 and 102.

Real Estate Investment Trust 
(or REIT)

A tax regime which in the UK exempts participants from corporation tax both on UK rental income  
and gains arising on UK investment property sales, subject to certain requirements. Further details  
are provided on pages 101 and 102.

Share Price The value of a share at a point in time as quoted on a stock exchange. The Company’s Ordinary Shares 
are traded on the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange.

SORP Statement of Recommended Practice ‘Financial Statements of Investment Trust Companies and Venture 
Capital Trusts’ issued by the AIC.

Total Return* The return to shareholders calculated on a per share basis by adding dividends paid in the period to the 
increase or decrease in the Share Price or NAV. The dividends are assumed to have been reinvested in the 
form of Ordinary Shares or Net Assets. The detailed method of calculation is shown on page 104.

Total Accounting Return* The Total Accounting Return is calculated based on the dividends paid in the period and the increase or 
decrease in the EPRA NTA. The detailed method of calculation is shown on page 104.

*	 Alternative Performance Measure.
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Corporate Information

Directors Alison Fyfe (Chair)
Michael Brodtman
Richard Cotton*
Vince Niblett**
Amanda Thompsell

Registered Office Level 4 Dashwood House
69 Old Broad Street
London EC2M 1QS

AIFM and Investment Manager,  
Company Secretary and Administrator

Target Fund Managers Limited 
Glendevon House
Castle Business Park 
Stirling FK9 4TZ

Legal Adviser Dickson Minto LLP
Dashwood House
69 Old Broad Street
London EC2M 1QS

Brokers Stifel Nicolaus Europe Limited
150 Cheapside 
London EC2V 6ET

Panmure Liberum Limited
Ropemaker Place, Level 12
25 Ropemaker Street
London EC2Y 9LY

Valuers CBRE Limited 
Henrietta House
Henrietta Place
London W1G 0NB

Auditors Ernst & Young LLP
Atria One
144 Morrison Street 
Edinburgh EH3 8EX

Tax Adviser Deloitte LLP
Athene Place 
66 Shoe Lane
London EC4A 3BQ

Tax Compliance Alvarez & Marsal Tax LLP
1 West Regent Street
Glasgow G2 1RW

Depositary IQ EQ Depositary Company (UK) Limited 
Two London Bridge
London SE1 9RA

Registrars Computershare Investor Services PLC 
The Pavilions
Bridgwater Road 
Bristol BS13 8AE

Website www.targethealthcarereit.co.uk

*	 Senior Independent Director
**	 Chairman of Audit Committee
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Target Healthcare REIT plc
Level 13 Broadgate Tower
20 Primrose Street
London EC2A 2EW

www.targethealthcarereit.co.uk
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